DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 246

EERO MERILIND

Primary health care performance: impact of payment and practice-based characteristics





DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 246

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
246

EERO MERILIND

Primary health care performance: impact of payment and practice-based characteristics



Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health University of Tartu Estonia

This dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Medicine) on May 18th, 2016 by the Council of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.

- Supervisor: Professor Ruth Kalda, MD, Dr Med Sci Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health, University of Tartu, Estonia
- Reviewers: Kaja Põlluste, MD, PhD Senior researcher, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia

Mati Rahu, PhD Lead researcher, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, National Institute for Health Development, Tallinn, Estonia

Opponent: Professor Igor Švab, MD, PhD, Department of Family Medicine, Vice-dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

Commencement: September 12th, 2016

ISSN 1024-395X ISBN 978-9949-77-204-9 (print) ISBN 978-9949-77-205-6 (pdf)

Copyright: Eero Merilind, 2016

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
1. INTRODUCTION	9
 2. ESTONIAN CONTEXT 2.1. Primary healthcare system 2.2. Payment schemes in primary health care 2.3. Payment for performance 	11 11 12 14
3. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	16
 3.1. Primary health care 3.2. Different payment models of primary care 3.3. Definitions of quality 3.4. Quality indicators (QI) 3.5. QI – process or health outcome targets? 3.6. QI and financial incentives for improving the quality 3.7. Different types of incentive models for funders of health services 3.8. P4P in different countries 3.8.1. Australia 	16 16 17 18 19 19 21 21 22
 3.8.2. Canada 3.8.3. Italy 3.8.4. Spain 3.8.5. United Kingdom 3.8.6. United States 3.9. Effects of P4P 3.9.1. Family doctors workload 3.9.2. Specialist consultations and hospitalisations 3.9.3. Prevention 3.9.4. Management of chronic diseases 3.10. Who should be rewarded in P4P? 	22 22 23 23 24 25 25 26 27 28
4. STUDY RATIONALE	30
5. AIMS OF THE STUDY	31
 6. SUBJECTS AND METHODS	32 32 33 36 36
7. RESULTS. IMPACT OF P4P7.1. FDs and family nurses workload7.2. Childhood immunisation coverage	37 37 39

7.3. The impact of P4P on the number of specialist consultations and	
hospital bed days	41
7.4. Number of patients with chronic diseases	41
7.5. Predictors of a good outcome in the P4P system	42
8. DISCUSSION. IMPACT OF P4P	45
8.1. The workload	45
8.2. Prevention	45
8.3. Number of specialist consultations and hospital bed days in Estonia	46
8.4. Chronic diseases	47
8.5. Preconditions for good outcome in P4P system	47
8.6. Strengths and limitations of the study	48
9. CONCLUSIONS	49
10. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	50
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	55
REFERENCES	56
PUBLICATIONS	67
CURRICULUM VITAE	105
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	107

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Merilind E, Västra K, Salupere R, Kolde A, Kalda R. The impact of P4P on the workload of family practices in Estonia. Qual Prim Care. 2014; 22(2):109–114.
- 2. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. The influence of performance-based payment on childhood immunization coverage. Health Policy. 2015;119(6):770–777.
- 3. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Põldsam R, Kalda R. The impact of payment for performance on number of family doctors visits, specialist consultations and hospital bed occupancy. A longitudinal study. Qual Prim Care. 2016;24(1):23–28.
- 4. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. Payment for performance of Estonian family doctors and impact of different practice and patient-related characteristics on a good outcome: a quantitative assessment. Medicina. 2016;52:192–198.

Authors' contributions:

- **Eero Merilind** (Study I, II, III, IV) has made substantial contributions to the conception, coordination and design of the study, also analysis and interpretation of data.
- **Rauno Salupere** (Study I, II, III, IV) and **Anastassia Kolde** (Study I) performed the statistical analysis.
- Katrin Västra (Study I, II, III, IV) and Reet Põldsam (Study III) have made substantial contributions to the acquisition of data.
- **Ruth Kalda** (Study I, II, III, IV) has been involved in drafting the manuscript and revising it critically.
- Papers are reproduced with the kind permission of the publishers: Radcliffe Publishing (Paper I), Elsevier (Paper II and IV) and Insight Medical Publishing (Paper III)

The articles are reprinted with the permission of the copyright owners.

ABBREVIATIONS

- CHD Coronary heart disease
- EHIF Estonian Health Insurance Fund
- EHR Electronic health records
- FD Family doctor
- FFS Fee-for-service
- GP General practitioner
- ICD International Classification of Diseases
- IOM Institute of Medicine
- NHS National Health Service (United Kingdom)
- PHC Primary health care
- P4P Payment for performance
- SCORE Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation
- QI Quality indicator
- QOF Quality and Outcomes Framework
- UK United Kingdom

1. INTRODUCTION

There is overwhelming evidence, from many countries, that health care is often not delivered in accordance with scientifically set and commonly-agreed professional standards. The result is that poor quality and unsafe care harms tens of thousands of people every year, and scarce health care resources are squandered. [1] Many countries, which differ enormously in the way that their health systems are structured, are improving the quality of health care. Measuring quality is a first and essential step to reach that goal. [2]

Quality of care is one the key dimensions of value. Engaging primary care practices in quality improvement activities is essential to achieving the triple aim of improving the health of the population, enhancing patient experiences and outcomes, and reducing the per capita cost of care, and to improving provider experience. [3]

Central to quality improvement are processes for continuously monitoring and improving quality and systems of accountability. Components of clinical governance include evidence-based practice, clinical audit, risk management, mechanisms to monitor the outcomes of care, lifelong learning and systems for managing poor performance. [4]

Different payment methods, capitation, salary, fee-for-service and mixed systems of payment have different effects on the behaviour of primary care physicians [5] and quality of care. [6] One possibility to encourage a better outcome is payment for performance (P4P). P4P financial incentive schemes reward doctors based on the quality and the outcomes of their treatment. [7]

There have been discussions [8–11] about how to describe quality in health care [12], how to measure it, how to choose quality indicators, whether they should monitor process or health outcome targets, how to find suitable indicators and how to combine it with financial incentives. Health care providers have questions about different quality dimensions in patients and professionals, increased or changed workload, lack of time for prevention and care of patients with chronic conditions, motivation triggers and of course the reliant payment. Policymakers and health care administrators want to know who should be rewarded in P4P, how large the financial reward should be and whether this guarantees an improvement in health outcomes or healthcare system quality.

In 2002 the US implemented P4P schemes and in 2004 the National Health Service (NHS) in the United Kingdom (UK) began a P4P initiative known as the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). [13] Several studies followed thereafter and described positive [14–17] or negative [18–19] effects of P4P in primary health care (PHC) and for the whole health care system.

When Estonia started the P4P system to improve health care quality in 2006, the aim was to promote the quality of family health care services, stimulate family doctors (FD) to provide more and a wider range of services and reduce the burden on specialised medical care. It is now almost 10 years since this

system has existed and some results should be noticeable. Our recent studies will give more knowledge about this topic.

This dissertation describes three aspects of payment for performance: effects on family doctors workload, differences in childhood immunisation coverage and impact on specialist consultations and number of hospital bed days, and discusses different practice and patient-related characteristics to find out predictors for a good outcome.

2. ESTONIAN CONTEXT

2.1. Primary healthcare system

The health care system in Estonia has seen profound reform since the early 1990s. Among the main objectives of the health care reform were reorganising the public funding system and the overextended hospital system, improving the quality and accessibility of general medical care service, and a more efficient use of resources, including reform of primary care, which began in 1991 and was successfully completed by 2003. The training and introduction of FDs was central to this reform. In 2015, there were 806 working FDs in Estonia (52 FDs per 100 000 inhabitants). In Europe several countries have general practitioners (GP) in the primary healthcare system, which are called FDs in Estonia.

In Estonia, the FD works together with the family nurse and is an independent contractor with the Estonian Health Insurance Fund (EHIF). The FD's contract contains different parts: payment per capita (five age groups), basic allowance for equipment and rooms, a fund for medical examinations and tests, a separate "therapeutic" fund, fee for distance from the nearest hospital and payment for second nurse and payment for the quality, etc. FDs in Estonia work as gatekeepers to diminish visits to secondary care. Every FD is responsible for the patients on their list, which could be from 1 200 up to 2 400 patients. If the FD's list has more than 2 000 patients on the list, the employment of another doctor as an assistant doctor is needed. In 2015, 44.1 per cent worked as a single FD (one doctor practice) and 55.9 per cent worked as a group practice (more than one FD together).

In 2006 Estonia started P4P for FDs. [20] The P4P is aimed at forcing FDs to pay more attention to prevention and monitoring chronic diseases. [21] FDs achieving a good outcome will receive an extra 5 per cent for the investigations (up to 37 per cent of the per capita payment). In 2014, 96.7 per cent of FDs were joined to P4P.

The Estonian P4P for FDs includes clinical quality indicators for children (0–7 years old) as follow-up and immunisation indicators, screening of cardio-vascular disease risk factors (40–60 years old), monitoring of patients with type 2 diabetes and hypertension according to Estonian guidelines, follow-up of patients with hypothyreosis and post-myocardial infarction patients, providing minor surgery procedures and PAP smears, observation of pregnancy and participation in CME courses for at least 60 hours per year. All 40–60 year old patients from FDs' lists involved in the cardiovascular disease prevention program (CDVP) were entitled to calculate their cardiovascular risk according to SCORE (Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation) tables (from 2009) and Body Mass Index, to measure blood pressure, glucose level and cholesterol with fractions. Patients with a risk SCORE of more than 5 per cent were considered high cardiovascular risk patients and could be counselled by a nurse. Since 2014 generic prescription angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors (ACE inhibitors) for hypertensive patients is also involved in the P4P system.

2.2. Payment schemes in primary health care

The components of the payment system for FDs in Estonia are presented below (Figure 1).

- 1. Capitation payments. These depend on the number of patients in the FDs' practice list and are aimed at covering main services and expenditures with furnishing, practice pay funds and daily supplies. Since 2012 capitation payment is split into five groups (<3, 3–7, 7–50, 50–70 and ≥70 years). FDs with less than the minimum of 1 200 patients receive capitation for 1 200 people in order to cover their fixed costs. Initially (starting from 1998), the capitation rates were equal for all age groups, but in 1999 adjustments for age were introduced, while in 2003 the difference in capitation across age groups was further expanded by raising the rate for children under two years of age by more than 50 per cent. [22–23]
- 2. **Basic allowance** monthly payment 986.23 euros (data from 01.01.2016) aimed at covering the fixed operating cost of the practice: computers, programs, rent of the premises and other payments, vehicle payments or transportation.
- 3. Fund for medical examinations and tests is seen as an incentive to provide services not covered by the capitation fee and it is disbursed after the provision of services based on invoices. This is in fact a fee-for-service payment adding up to 29 per cent of the total capitated amount and 34 per cent for FDs taking part in the quality bonus system. FDs achieving a good outcome in P4P will receive an extra 5 per cent for the investigations (up to 39 per cent of the per capita payment).
- 4. A separate "therapeutic fund" up to 3 per cent of capitation (cover services provided by psychologists and speech therapists) and activity fund with no cap including minor surgery and gynaecological procedures that an FD can do by themself.
- 5. **Distance allowance** provides additional income depending on the distance to the nearest hospital. It is paid to FDs working more than 20 km from the nearest hospital. Two categories are distinguished: 20–40 km (monthly additional payment 133.65 euros) and more than 40 km from the nearest hospital (monthly additional payment 382.94 euros).
- 6. **Pay-for-performance**. Annually negotiated, it is paid once a year and depends on the level of provision of certain services. In January 2006 a performance-based payment system for FDs was launched to increase the quality and effectiveness of preventive care and improve the monitoring of chronic illnesses.
- 7. **Payment for second nurse.** Since 2013 FDs have the possibility to employ a second nurse, which is covered by the EHIF (monthly additional payment 1 377.95 euros).
- 8. **Payment for late opening times**. Primary health care centres have the possibility to widen their opening times and earn additional income (hourly additional payment 25.04 euros for FDs and 15.85 euros for nurses).



Figure 1. The components of the payment system for FDs in Estonia (based on one specific contract).

9. Other additional payments. This includes payment for additional competence (annual payment 1 377.95 euros), excellent outcome of the primary health care centre (annual payment 159.78 euros) and for a good outcome in the cancer screening programme (not included into P4P) (annual payment 958.68 euros).

2.3. Payment for performance

The Estonian P4P for FDs contains three major parts: prevention, monitoring of patients with chronic diseases according to national guidelines and professional competency (Table 1).

FDs fulfilling all these criteria are entitled to extra payment. Payment-forperformance is a reward for a good outcome, but its influence on the general budget is relatively small in different countries and in Estonia (2–4 per cent of the total budget of the FDs).

Joining the P4P is a voluntary process for all FDs, is a part of the FDs contract and there are no sanctions if a doctor does not participate in the P4P. FDs participating in the P4P receive some increase of funds for investigations as a bonus. From this fund (which constitutes 27–32 per cent of the per capita payment) all investigations (X-rays, ultrasounds, blood tests, urine tests, ECGs, etc.) should be performed.

Coverage targets in P4P are universal to all FDs and are increasing stepwise every year. FDs who achieved these targets earn points. The maximum number of points FDs can achieve in the P4P is 640, if the FD has collected more than 75 per cent of the points (480 points), this is considered a good outcome. If FDs collect less than 75 per cent of the points this is considered a poor outcome. In a good outcome two different payments are foreseen – FDs who achieved 480–539 points (75–84.4 per cent of the maximum) will earn 4 332.83 euros as annual payment and FDs with 540–640 points (84.5–100 per cent of the maximum) will earn 5 483.24 euros. FDs who achieved less than 479 points (less than 74.9 per cent of the maximum) have no extra payment.

Since 2012, 96.6 per cent of FDs are joined to P4P and are motivated to achieve a good outcome. Every year the number of FDs with a good outcome has increased, but only half of FDs achieved a good outcome (in 2012).

Since 2013 P4P is a part of FDs' contract (with the EHIF) and all FDs are involved in P4P.

In addition, some new indicators (type of prescribed medications to treat hypertension and percentage of generic prescriptions) are implemented.

Since 2015 P4P is mandatory for all FDs.

Indicator	Description	
Part 1 (Prevention)		
Immunisations	Pertussis, Diphtheria, Tetanus, Poliomyelitis, Measles, Mumps,	
	Rubella, Hepatitis B, Haemophilus influenza type b according	
	to immunisation plan	
Children health	in 1, 3, 6, and 12 months old, 2 years old, preschool health	
controls	control	
Cardiovascular	40-60 years old, blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol with	
disease prevention	fractions.	
programme	SCORE calculation – High and low cardiovascular risk charts	
	based on gender, age, total cholesterol, systolic blood pressure	
	and smoking status, with relative risk chart, qualifiers and	
	instructions	
Part 2 (Chronic dise	ases)	
Diabetes mellitus	Register of patients with type 2 diabetes, measuring glucose	
type 2	and HbA1c, cholesterol with fractions, serum creatinine testing,	
	urine tests to detect microalbuminuria, blood pressure measure-	
TT / •	ment, nurse counselling	
Hypertension	Register of patients with hypertension (divided into three	
	stages), glucose, cholesterol with fractions, serum creatinne	
	manufacture and the set of the se	
	inhibitore	
Myocordial	Register of patients with myocardial infarction, cholesterol with	
inforction	fractions ECG blood pressure measurement purse counselling	
Hypothyroidism	Register of patients with hypothyreosis TSH testing	
Part 3 (Fnhanced se	rvices)	
1 un 5 (Ennancea se	Observation of pregnancy, PAP smear tests, minor surgery pro-	
	cedures	
	Participation in CME courses (at least 60 hours per year)	
M		
Maximum number of points 640		
Good outcome more than 480 points (≥75%)		
Poor outcome less than 479 points (<74.9%)		

Table 1. P4P components in Estonian family practice quality payment scheme

3. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

3.1. Primary health care

Primary health care can be characterised as the first level of access to care and is provided near patients' homes. [24–26] Primary health care includes curative and rehabilitative care, preventive care and health education. [27] A major challenge in health services research is to show what configurations of PHC are associated with better outcomes, in terms of quality, equity and costs. [28]

A major step in the global attention for primary care has been the WHO Declaration of Alma-Ata from 1978. [29] The Declaration stressed the importance of creating and sustaining a strong primary (health) care system, not just as a part of the health care system, but in particular linked to other sectors as well. [30] Alma-Ata has inspired countries in Europe to develop their own structure of the 'first line' health care services. After the collapse of the Communist regimes in 1991, countries in Central and Eastern Europe were forced to fundamentally restructure their health care systems, including primary care. [31–32] Today, the strengthening of primary care worldwide is probably higher on the agenda than ever. [33]

3.2. Different payment models of primary care

The traditional classification of PHC includes three main systems of payment, i.e. salary, capitation and fee-for-service (FFS). However, in practice, varieties of them exist, such as integrated capitation and mixed payment systems [6] (Table 2).

Payment term/system	Description
Capitation	Lump sum payment per patient/member of population served by a provider for comprehensive services or particular categories of service regardless of treatment. Is the majority of FDs' income and payment is related to the number of patients on their list weighted by their age.
Fee-for-service	Activity-based (prospectively set) unit payment for a defined inter- vention regardless of patient characteristics. Is part of FDs' contract for providing specified services and investigations.
Pay-for- performance	Payment linked to achievement of specific performance targets. FDs earn extra payments if they provide specified levels of service.
Mixed systems	A combination of different payment methods. Is usually used in FDs contracts.

Table 2. A description of payment terms according to Appleby et al. [34]

For FDs' services the mixed systems of payments for infrastructure plus weighted capitation and pay-for-performance are widely used. [35]

In an environment where FDs are of differing quality and heterogeneous patients have different preferences for quality, it is shown that FFS coupled with balance billing is a superior payment scheme to just FFS or capitation payments, as it generates an efficient allocation of FDs between high and low quality and an efficient allocation of patients between FDs. Where patients have more than one condition it is shown that FFS allows patients to seek treatment from FDs of differing quality conditional on the medical condition they have. [36]

3.3. Definitions of quality

There are many definitions of quality used both in relation to health care and health systems.

Avedis Donabedian defines quality: "Quality of care is the kind of care which is expected to maximise an inclusive measure of patient welfare, after one has taken account of the balance of expected gains and losses that attend the process of care in all its parts." [37]

The Institute of Medicine describes healthcare quality as the extent to which health services provided to individuals and patient populations improve desired health outcomes. The care should be based on the strongest clinical evidence and provided in a technically and culturally competent manner with good communication and shared decision-making. [38]

The World Health Organization says quality of care is the level of attainment of health systems' intrinsic goals for health improvement and responsiveness to legitimate expectations of the population. [39]

In 1994, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) Committee on the Future of Primary Care defined primary care as "the provision of integrated, accessible health care services by clinicians who are accountable for addressing a large majority of personal health care needs, developing a sustained partnership with patients, and practising in the context of family and the community." [40] Safran et al. [41] developed the Primary Care Assessment Survey (PCAS), a patient-completed questionnaire that operationalises formal definitions of primary care. The PCAS measures seven domains of care through 11 summary scales: accessibility (organisational, financial), continuity (longitudinal, visitbased), comprehensiveness (contextual knowledge of patient, preventive counselling), integration, clinical interaction (clinician-patient communication, thoroughness of physical examinations), interpersonal treatment, and trust.

Scientific research, both international comparisons and within the United States, has shown that well developed PHC systems have better coordination and continuity of care and better opportunities to control costs. [42–45] Research from the USA has shown that availability of FDs and first contact care are associated with reduced unnecessary care (avoidable hospitalisation) and increased accessibility. [46–48] Avoidable hospital admissions can be used as

an indicator of health care performance. The availability of FDs and insurance coverage for PHC are related to lower rates of avoidable hospitalisations. [49] A negative effect is that patient satisfaction seems to be lower in health care systems with regulated access to specialist services by gate keeping. [50–51]

Health policies aimed at strengthening primary care are associated with better levels of health. [52] Strong primary care is associated with better health outcomes such as lower rates of all-cause, heart disease, and cancer mortalities. [53]

In Europe there were contrasts between regions within Europe and FDs within countries showed large differences in their service profiles. The international differences were related to characteristics of the health care systems, such as the FDs' employment status, gate keeping role and mode of remuneration. [54–56]

3.4. Quality indicators (QI)

Quality indicators are specific and measurable elements of practice that can be used to assess the quality of care. [57] "They are usually derived from retrospective reviews of medical records or routine information sources. The good QI should define care that is attributable and within the control of the person who is delivering the care. QI are different from guidelines and from standards. It is important to recognise that QI are *indicators*, rather than definitive judgements about quality." [58]

Different studies have investigated how to choose different QI to achieve better outcomes, how financial incentives in P4P programmes have improved the quality of care and what the consequences are. [59–60] Jones et al. [60] showed that the selection of QI is important and poor indicator selection may result in unintended consequences.

There is wide variation in the number of indicators included in P4P schemes. [61] For example, in the UK there are currently 134, the Queensland Practice Incentives Program pilot in Australia had 7, Medicare Australia's Practice Incentives Program has 13, Tuscany's Performance Evaluation System has 50 measures consisting of more than 130 indicators, and Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services/Premier (CMS-Premier) pilot also had several QIs. [62–65] The decision on how many indicators to include is a delicate balancing act. On the one hand, there is the desire to cover all issues to guard against selective focus through the implication that activities not measured are unimportant. On the other hand, as the number of indicators grows, so do the resources of time and health information technology required to collect and analyse the data.

Through the use of a structured expert review process, the OECD Health Care Quality Indicators project has identified rates of avoidable admissions for long-term conditions and internationally comparable indicators of the quality of primary care. Some other important Health Care Quality Indicators are: asthma, diabetes, congestive heart failure hospital admission rates, rate of childhood vaccination for pertussis, measles and rate of influenza vaccination for elderly people. Further indicators on the quality and safety of prescribing in primary care are under development. [66]

3.5. QI – process or health outcome targets?

There is the question of whether to set process or health outcome targets. The ultimate goal of P4P schemes is to improve the health through improvements in quality, equity, and efficiency of care of populations served. [67–68] However, outcome targets are problematic in several respects. First, except for in the case of mortality and morbidity caused by medical errors, desired health outcomes frequently do not take place in the short-term period over which measurement is taking place. Second, for those that can be measured in the short term (reductions in blood pressure, HbA1c level, cholesterol), information asymmetry issues arise between the physician who provides guidance on appropriate disease management and the patient who may, or may not, follow that prescribed course of care. [69–70]

On the question of whether P4P measures do actually cause improvement in health, the literature is fairly lean. In one interrupted time series study of the impact of the UK's QOF (Quality and Outcomes Framework), Serumaga et al. [71] found that after controlling for secular trends, the QOF had no discernible impact on cumulative incidence of stroke, myocardial infarction, renal failure, heart failure, or all-cause mortality. They do note, however, that the quality of care pre-QOF implementation was already quite high, a fact noted by other researchers as well. [72]

Crosson et al. [73] compared care processes and intermediate outcomes of US and UK practices on P4P measures of randomly selected patients with diabetes or coronary artery disease prior to pay-for-performance initiatives, and found gaps in chronic illness care quality across both samples.

Different European countries like Denmark, England, France, Germany, the Netherlands and Sweden, with the addition of Australia and Canada have different financial incentives for better management of chronic diseases. [74–75] As health systems differ widely, each country must find their own solution. [76]

3.6. QI and financial incentives for improving the quality

Measurable international indicators to monitor the quality of primary care are used in more than 30 European countries. [77] Available data for 10 countries primary care QI are used and combined with financial incentives. In eight countries QI can influence the finances/salary of family physicians with a bonus of 1–25 per cent of their total income. The influence of incentives was weak in Spain and in Italy [78] (Table 3).

Year of intro- duction	Number of QI	Main fields of QI	QI related increase of income (in %) (approximately)
2004	134	Clinical services, organisational, patient's experience, additional services	25
2006	66	Indicators for FDs, nurses, odonto- logy, paediatrics, social workers	1–2
2006	40	Access to care, cardiovascular risk, diabetes, maternity services, paediatric care	10
2006	60	P4P: prevention, chronic disease management, comprehensive care	2–4 [79]
2009	15 (adult), 6 (paediatric)	Prevention, screening activity,) hypertension, lipids, coronary heart disease, diabetes, referrals	5
2010	21	Prevention, chronic disease manage- ment (e.g. diabetes, hypertension), ambulance visits	5
2010	1	Diabetes (different in 20 regions)	< 1
2010	17–20	Diabetes, COPD	7 (local experiment)
2011	22	Bonus payment: population care coverage, prevention, hospitali- sation, chronic diseases	9
2011	20	Prevention, COPD, asthma	10

 Table 3. European countries with primary care Quality Indicators (QI) related to payment

Over the past two decades funders and policymakers worldwide have experimented with initiatives to change physicians' behaviour and improve the quality and efficiency of medical care. [80] The NHS in the UK, Medicare in the United States and many private insurers have adopted P4P schemes as a key strategy. The schemes are based on a basic tenet of economics and psychology: that people respond to rewards. [81]

Scott et al. [19] state that use of financial incentives to reward FDs for improving the quality of primary healthcare services is growing. However, there is insufficient evidence to support or not support the use of financial incentives to improve the quality of PHC.

Patients, professionals, managers, funders and policymakers alike are interested in increasing the performance of health services, but are also worried about the costs. One way of aligning performance with costs is to work with appropriate financial and non-financial incentives. The underlying goal of incentives is therefore not simply rewarding good performance or punishing bad performance. The goal of using incentives is to support the change in the status quo by stimulating both immediate and long-term improvements in performance through reinforcing positive performance by creating alignment between expectations and rewards (financial/non-financial) and removing financial barriers that perversely effect desired performance. [82]

3.7. Different types of incentive models for funders of health services

- 1. **Bonuses** Increased allocation based on the achievement of performance measures.
- 2. Enhanced payment/bonus The purpose is to address the 'costs of compliance' health service providers are required to make in order to meet the performance expectations. The amount will depend on the benefits/savings the targeted organisation can derive from the improvement.
- 3. Link funding increase to performance Similar to the bonus model, part of the allocation is based on performance. Unlike bonuses, it is not in the form of additional money but puts (part of) potential rate increases at risk based on performance.
- 4. Savings from efficiency Health service providers are allowed to keep the surplus or parts of it.
- 5. Gain sharing Share savings between funder and health service provider where savings for the funder are anticipated from performance improvement.
- 6. **Grants** To promote and share best practices. This provides an incentive to develop new and innovative ways to improve performance by recognising and rewarding excellent practices of the health service provider.
- 7. **Performance fund** Health service providers are eligible (non-competitive) for financial support to build capacity or developing and implementing performance improvement activities.
- 8. **Pay for activities** Pay health service providers separately for services that improve performance.
- Public disclosure and/or recognition Disclosure of information to the public on the improvement of health service providers' performance. Recognition would be one step further where the best performance is 'highlighted'.

3.8. P4P in different countries

P4P payment schemes have been introduced in many countries over the last 10 years. [83] We choose some of them for description. These policies base a part of each doctor's income on indicators designed to measure individual performance. [64] Many countries are using or also considering financial incentive schemes. [84–86]

3.8.1. Australia

Australia focused on increasing immunisation rates in children with the General Practice Immunization Incentive Scheme, launched in 1997. [87] In addition, in 1998 Medicare Australia began making bonus payments to GP practices that met, or were working towards meeting, accreditation standards under the Practice Incentives Program (PIP-1). More recently, in 2006, the Veteran's Affairs Department of the Commonwealth began a P4P scheme that pays hospitals that serve veterans for meeting surgical outcomes, patient safety and satisfaction, and chronic disease management targets. [64] Finally, Medicare Australia began piloting a new version of the Practice Incentives Program (PIP-2) system in 2007 aimed at GP practices. The PIP-2 currently comprises 13 incentives including quality prescribing, diabetes, cervical screening, asthma, indigenous health, e-Health, after hours care, teaching, rural loading, aged care access, and a final incentive aimed at ensuring access to surgical, anaesthetic, and obstetric services in rural regions. [63]

3.8.2. Canada

Ontario's health care system was the first in Canada to integrate P4P goals into physician compensation and has done so only since 2004 to 2005 when it gave FDs the option of switching from the traditional FFS contract to either a blended capitation contract called the "Family Health Network" or an enhanced FFS contract called the "Family Health Group"; by 2006, the number of FDs enrolled in these models together exceeded the traditional FFS contract. [88–89] Both of the new contracts incorporate P4P incentives aimed at targets in the following areas: access/after-hour care, chronic disease management, smoking cessation, preventive care, group management and leadership, and serious mental illness. [61]

3.8.3. Italy

GP payment systems are three-tiered, with the first tier a fixed component based on the adjusted risk of the GP's patient list, the second tier is a variable component based on "other" services provided (minor surgery, prevention activities, post-surgery follow-up), and the final "additional" component is effectively a reward for cost containment and is assessed on the basis of the costs of labs, pharmaceuticals, and services prescribed. [90–91]

3.8.4. Spain

Spain decentralised its national health care system in 2000. While primary care providers are paid across most of the country via retrospective payment

systems, the Catalonia region in the 1990s began developing contracts with primary care providers that include adjusted capitation budgets and variable components based on quality-based performance indicators in the areas of quality of care, coordination, and efficiency. [92–93] These variable components currently make up 15 of the payments made to primary care providers for the region and are linked to health promotion and prevention activities.

3.8.5. United Kingdom

In the UK, the NHS began a major pay-for-performance initiative in 2004, known as the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). Aimed at FDs, the QOF was launched with the goal of reducing variations in the quality of care in the UK. Altogether, 138 indicators covered clinical care for 10 chronic diseases, practice organisation, patient experience, and an "other" category covers specific priorities in a given year. [94]

The initial QOF consisted of 146 indicators, including several measures of patient satisfaction which, due to high levels of satisfaction across the board and the cost involved with data collection, were replaced with one measure of patient experience (patient consultation length) in 2006. [27]

After the first year of the programme, FDs met 96.7 per cent of the clinical targets and received payment increase in the annual income of individual physicians, which was 22 per cent more than the NHS had budgeted. [14]

3.8.6. United States

The United States has a multipayer system with the majority of the payers being private, for-profit insurance companies, although the federal government via Medicaid, Medicare, and the Veteran's Administration is the largest single payer. [95] With per capita health care costs that are the highest in the world, and health outcomes that do not rise to that level of spending, individual payers and the federal government started piloting P4P programmes in 2002 in reaction to the Institute of Medicine's Crossing the Quality Chasm call to action. [96] In their 2004 systematic review, Rosenthal et al. [97] identified 37 P4P initiatives implemented by 31 for-profit plans in the United States, covering a patient population of 20 million. The largest P4P pilot initiative in the United States was CMS-Premier Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration (HQID), a partnership between the Centres for Medicare & Medicaid Services and Premier Healthcare Informatics, which launched in 2003. [65]

3.9. Effects of P4P

P4P is intended to bring the best scientific evidence to primary care practice. [98] Several reviews of the impact of P4P in primary care suggest that the programmes generally have had limited **positive** impacts [12,14,17,99–100] and various countries are looking at whether a similar initiative could be used in their primary care systems. [101–103] Positive effects of financial incentives [17] include cost savings to the Medicaid programme from shorter nursing home stays [104], small improvements in cervical cancer screening and improved immunisation rates. [105] As positive effects of P4P, Lai [106] showed that when physicians participated in the P4P programme, this increased the likelihood that patients would receive guideline-recommended tests or examinations. Gillam and Siriwardena [107] described modest cost-effective reductions in mortality and hospital admissions in some domains.

However, several studies found either **no effect** [108] **or negative effects**, such as reduced access to health care for the most severely ill patients [109], they also noted a tendency towards improvements in documentation of care rather than a change in the actual quality of care. [110]

The introduction of P4P schemes seemed to accelerate in programme named activities, but quality quickly reached a plateau. Incentives had little apparent impact on non-incentivised activities in the short term, but seem to have had some detrimental effects in the longer term, possibly because of practices focusing on patients for whom rewards applied. [111]

High scores on the QOF might have partly resulted from "gaming". Some practices seemed to have achieved high scores by excluding large numbers of patients, although it was unclear whether these exclusions were for sound clinical reasons or in order to maximise income. [112] One study from Chen et al. [113] confirmed that older patients and patients with more comorbidities or more severe conditions are prone to be excluded from P4P programmes.

Evidence on the **effect of P4P on quality** is limited. P4P schemes can have an effect on the behaviour of physicians and can lead to better clinical management of disease, but there is cause for concern about the impact on the quality of care. [114]

The main idea of P4P is that there are associations between the size of financial payment for achievement of an indicator and the expected health gain. Fleetcroft et al. [115] measured health gain as expected lives saved in one year and in quality adjusted life years. They found evidence for lives saved or quality adjusted life years gained for 28 indicators accounting for 41 of the total incentive payments. No associations were found between the size of financial payment for achievement of an indicator and the expected health gain at the performance threshold for maximum payment measured in lives saved or quality adjusted life years.

3.9.1. Family doctors workload

Already several years since the UK started the pay-for-performance programmes in family practices, [14] different countries are thinking about the value for money [116] and assessed the workload before and after the introduction of the pay-for-performance contracts.

The findings from previous studies suggest that general practices responded to the 2004 GP contract in the UK by increasing the numbers of FDs, nursing staff and administrative staff. Implementing the new contract required attention to clinical and information systems needed to comply with new performance criteria. It is therefore unsurprising that practices increased the numbers of their administrative staff. The relative increase in nursing staff was higher than that for FDs. While there was no change in the average hours per week devoted to patient care by either nursing staff or FDs, the number of visits to nursing staff increased while the number of visits to FDs declined. [117]

This suggests that, as with the 1990 GP contract [118], the extra clinical workload placed on general practices by the 2004 contract has been absorbed more by nursing staff than by doctors. Charles-Jones et al. [119] also showed that the difficulty of FDs' work may have increased as routine care is delegated to nursing staff, leaving FDs to manage the more complex patient problems. In contrast to doctors, nursing staff reported an increase in both visit rates and the complexity of those visits. This is understandable, as nursing staff assumed greater responsibility for patient management.

Overall, the findings suggest that expanding nursing staff roles may be an effective strategy for increasing the quality of primary care. Systematic reviews of previous research suggest that primary care nursing staff can deliver as high-quality care as FDs in the areas of preventive health care, routine follow-up of patients with long-term conditions and first- contact care for people with minor illness. [120–121]

Most UK GPs reported that the new contract had increased their income (88 per cent), but decreased their professional autonomy (71 per cent) and increased their administrative (94 per cent) and clinical (86 per cent) workloads. [122]

3.9.2. Specialist consultations and hospitalisations

Iezzi et al. [123] showed that financial payment might help improve the quality of care and reduce hospitalisations. In another study, the implementation of P4P reduced the rate of specialist consultations and hospitalisations. [124] Recent studies showed that P4P reduced the likelihood of diabetes-related hospitalisations for diabetic patients. [125–126] A P4P scheme can significantly increase the receipt of quality care and decrease hospitalisation rates among patients with diabetes. [127–128] Harrison et al. [129] described that the introduction of a major national P4P scheme for primary care in England was associated with a decrease in emergency admissions for incentivised conditions compared with

conditions that were not incentivised. Patients enrolled in the P4P programme underwent significantly more diabetes-specific examinations and tests after enrolment; the differences between the intervention and comparison groups declined gradually over time but remained significant. Patients in the intervention groups had a significantly higher number of diabetes-related physician visits in only the first year after enrolment and had fewer diabetes-related hospitalisations in the follow-up period. [130] For coronary heart disease, the lack of an association between quality scores and admission rates suggests that improving the quality of primary care may not reduce demands on the hospital sector. [131]

Edwards et al. [132] investigated the number of visits to generalists and specialists. The proportion of visits to generalists increased from 88.4 per cent in 1997 to 92.4 per cent in 2010. The proportion of specialist decreased from 30.6 per cent in 1997 to 9.8 per cent in 2010 (p < 0.01).

Specialists like to take care of older patients (mean age 61 years) and dedicate most of their visits to chronic disease management (51.0 per cent), while generalists will see younger patients (mean age 55.4 years) and most commonly for new problems (40.5 per cent). Quality of care for cardiovascular disease was better in visits to cardiologists than in visits to generalists, but was similar or better in visits to generalists compared to visits to other medical specialists.

3.9.3. Prevention

P4P includes several activities for prevention (smoking cessation counselling, diabetes testing, cancer screens, immunisations, etc.).

Coleman [133] mentioned that financial incentives undoubtedly influence FDs' activities, but delivery of health promotion counselling may not always have the effects intended. There is strong, observational evidence that targets and incentives intended to increase smoking cessation counselling by FDs have merely increased their propensity to record this activity in patients' medical records. Greene [134] investigated P4P in Australia and found there was a short-term increase in diabetes testing and cervical cancer screens after programme implementation. The increase, however, was for all FDs. Neither signing onto the programme nor claiming incentive payments was associated with increased diabetes testing or cervical cancer screening. FDs reported that the incentive did not influence their behaviour, largely due to the modest payment and the complexity of tracking patients and claiming payment.

In 2005 physician groups in California participating in a pay-for-performance programme showed across the board improvement on cervical cancer screening, diabetes screening and childhood immunisations, according to the Integrated Healthcare Association. Participating physician groups provided about 60 000 more cervical cancer screenings and 12 000 more diabetes screenings in 2005 than in 2004. Among health maintenance organisation members, childhood immunisations were up about 30 000, the Integrated Healthcare Association said. [16]

Tara et al. [135] found no significant step change in the screening rate for any of the three cancers the year after incentives were introduced. Colon cancer screening was increasing at a rate of 3.0 per cent per year before the incentives were introduced and 4.7 per year after. The cervical and breast cancer screening rates did not change significantly from year to year before or after the incentives were introduced. Between 2006–2007 and 2009–2010, US\$28.3 million, US\$31.3 million and US\$50.0 million were spent on financial incentives for cervical, breast, and colorectal cancer screening, respectively (Ontario, Canada). In conclusion, Tara wrote that P4P was associated with little or no improvement in screening rates despite substantial expenditure.

Immunisation plays a big part in FDs' work and immunisation coverage rate is an important public health goal. Chien et al. [136] showed the impact of P4P programmes aimed at rewarding up-to-date immunisation delivery to 2-yearolds according to the recommended series (New York; USA). The Hudson Health Plan introduced a US\$200 bonus payment for each fully immunised 2year-old and provided administrative supports for identifying children who may need immunisations. Immunisation rates within the Hudson Health Plan increased significantly among other health plans.

In the UK (QOF) influenza immunisation is a part of P4P [137] (for patients with coronary heart disease (CHD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, and stroke) and it showed increases in the proportion of immunised CHD patients, as negative consequences and increased exceptions rates and led to "gaming". [138] After this clinical quality indicator was withdrawn from a national incentive scheme, influenza immunisation became less statistically significant. [139]

3.9.4. Management of chronic diseases

It was found that payment methods have important implications for the nature and quality of services provided to chronically ill patients.

Pay-for-performance programmes are often aimed at improving the management of chronic diseases. Pape et al. [140] focused on targets for intermediate outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease and diabetes and found that P4P led to significantly higher target achievements (hypertension, CHD, diabetes, stroke), but one reason for achieving a good outcome was higher rates of exception reporting in patients with all conditions except for stroke. Exception reporting allows practitioners to exclude patients from target calculations if certain criteria are met. There were no statistically significant improvements in mean blood pressure, cholesterol or HbA1c levels.

Kirschner et al. [141] showed that after one year, a significant improvement was shown for the process indicators for all chronic conditions (diabetes, COPD, asthma, cardiovascular risk management) ranging from +7.9 improve-

ment for cardiovascular risk management to +11.5 for asthma. Five outcome indicators significantly improved as well as patients' experiences with GP's functioning and organisation of care. No significant improvements were seen for influenza vaccination rate and the cervical cancer screening uptake. The clinical process and outcome indicators, as well as patient experience indicators were affected by baseline measures. Karunaratne et al. [142] investigated risk factors related to chronic kidney disease and management of hypertension in primary care and estimated the cost implications of the resulting changes in prescribing patterns of antihypertensive medication. As a result, the authors described that population blood pressure control has improved since the introduction of P4P renal indicators, and this improvement has been sustained. This was associated with a significant increase in the use of antihypertensive medication, resulting in increased prescription cost. Hierpe et al. [143] showed that in Sweden, after the introduction of the new reimbursement system, registered codes for hypertension and cancer diseases in the Skaraborg primary care database increased for hypertension and cancer, probably partly due to an increased diagnosis coding.

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) patients who were treated by physicians participating in P4P were more likely to receive quality care than patients who were not. Patients who received quality care were less likely to have new coronary events or be hospitalised, or have uncontrolled lipids than patients who did not. A P4P programme was associated with increased lipid monitoring and treatment. [144] Lee et al. [145] studied mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure and cholesterol levels and concluded that the implementation of P4P resulted in improvements in blood pressure control.

The important role of management of chronic diseases falls on nurses. In countries where primary care is based largely on multi-professional teams of physicians, nurses and other health professionals and where patients are registered with a specific primary care facility, there has been a progressive increase in the role of nurses in managing many chronic diseases. [146]

3.10. Who should be rewarded in P4P?

An important point relevant to P4P rewards is who gets paid. The most common theme discussed in the literature is whether to pay individual providers versus making payments to the group practice, leaving the distribution of rewards up to group management. Paying individual providers can reduce coordination of care because providers want to get credit for gains made by patients; in addition, these rewards can fail to incentivise systems improvements (i.e. management, information tracking processes) that are best addressed by collective action. [61] On the contrary, paying the group can result in a subset of providers electing to "free-ride" off of others. In regions where single-handed practices prevail, this is not an issue; however, for hospitals and areas where large and/or integrated provider groups predominate, a mix of individual and group rewards is likely optimal. [147]

Notably, P4P rewards are generally paid to physicians or top management with no guidance as to how best to distribute the rewards, with the exception of the Catalonia region of Spain where the management by objective policy provides individual objectives for physicians, nurses and managers. [148]

In the UK's QOF, Campbell et al. [149] identified resentment among nurses who were providing valuable chronic disease management and other care to meet the QOF indicators but generally were not seeing the financial rewards. In the UK, the QOF rewards are paid to practices and management and often the physician(s) decides how to distribute it.

The question arises as to how large the financial reward should be to motivate physicians, by their selection of profession, by financial reward versus the knowledge of knowing they are doing a good job. While not discussed in the literature, the answer to this question might be correlated to base level of pay, which varies significantly across countries. In addition, there is some concern that if the rewards are too large, negative incentives to game the system will become problems. One qualitative study that surveyed 643 health maintenance organisation managers (44 per cent response rate) found that a bonus amounting to 5 per cent of a physician's salary is necessary to motivate action. [150]

4. STUDY RATIONALE

Estonian research has long traditions to study PHC and health care quality [151–154] and in the scientific literature we can find a positive and negative description of the experience from different countries.

The studies [19,100] in this field showed that P4P has an impact on outpatient visits in primary and secondary care, as well as on hospitalisations and bed days of patients with two main chronic diseases (hypertension and type 2 diabetes). [155–157]

FDs who achieved a good outcome in P4P have better continuity of care for chronic diseases. This situation also reduced the number of specialist consultations. FDs who achieved a good outcome in P4P had less chronic patients in their lists. The study suggested that it should be considered to provide extra incentives for these FDs who have more chronic patients in their lists. [124]

We have chosen several indicators (workload, immunisation coverage rate, patient and practice-related characteristics on good outcome) that are available and describe the P4P most accurately. Workload had a previous correlation to P4P, while immunisation coverage is a generally accepted indicator for the assessment of prevention. Reduced number of hospitalisations can be used as an indicator of PHC performance.

We chose those indicators because we had reliable data available and the information was well documented. We obtained information about all FDs and we could test some hypotheses from previous studies.

As Estonia has had a P4P scheme already for 10 years, an evaluation of the effects of P4P on the FDs' work and on the whole health care system can be made.

5. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of the study was to find out the impact of P4P on health care system as well as to discover what effects the patient and practice-related characteristics have on a good outcome in the P4P system.

For this purpose the following specific aims were set:

- 1. To investigate the impact of P4P on the workload of family practices, specialists and number of hospital days in Estonia
- 2. To study the impact of P4P in prevention: differences in immunisation coverage rate between FDs participating in the P4P and those not participating
- 3. To explain the preconditions of good outcome in a P4P system.

6. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

6.1. Study design

We conducted four different quantitative research studies to investigate the effects of P4P. The study design, samples, objectives, methods and observation periods are described below (Table 4).

Studies	Study	Study	Objective	Methods	Observation
	design	sample			period
Study I	Retro- spective	All FDs in Estonia (Figure 2)	Workload Workload was defined as: 1) the total number of visits to the FDs and family nurses in Estonia, and 2) the number of visits per one family doctor and one family nurse.	2 groups: FDs joined and FDs not joined in P4P	2005–2011
Study II	Retro- spective	All FDs in Estonia (Figure 2)	Immunisation coverage rate	2 groups: FDs joined and FDs not joined in P4P	2006–2012
Study III	Longi- tudinal	Study sample	Number of FDs visits, specialist consultations and days in hospital	FDs who had a good outcome in a P4P system and those who did not have in P4P	2014 (01.01.2014– 31.01.2014)
Study IV	Retro- spective	All FDs in Estonia 500 (2006) – 772 (2012)	Different practice and patient-related characteristics	FDs who had a good outcome in a P4P system and those who did not have in P4P	2006–2012

Table 4. Overview of conducted studies



Figure 2. Percentage of FDs joined to the P4P and not joined to the P4P in Estonia, 2006–2012.

6.2. Data sources

The studies were conducted using the database from the Estonian Health Insurance Fund, which consists of health-related data of 96 per cent of the Estonian population. The database does not cover the data of those 4 per cent of the population who have no medical insurance. The database was created on the basis of the health service invoices sent by family physicians to the EHIF for payment. These invoices list all services provided to the patients including all visits to FDs and family nurses, as well as the diagnoses of the patients according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10). The data of service-providing family physicians are also included in the health service invoices. Data sources for all studies were health service invoices sent to the EHIF database (Table 5).

To be able to assess FDs and nurses performance according to health service invoices, special new codes were entered on invoices, such as nurse visit, refusal of vaccinations, codes for small children check-ups, etc. Based on collected data we could evaluate the performance of every single FD and nurse.

Table	5.	Data	sources
-------	----	------	---------

Studies	Data
Study I	The total number of visits, number of primary visits (first visit during the
	episode of the illness during one calendar year), secondary visits (repeated
	visits which are needed during the episode of the certain illness during one
	calendar year), home visits and visits provided by the nurse were analysed
Study II	All immunisations have a separate code according to state health service
	price list and are marked on FDs' invoices. Refusals or contraindications
	to immunisations are also coded and listed in the invoice. Every FD has
	their own list of patients and the target group for vaccinations is known
	for the period starting from 1 January and ending on 31 December. To
	achieve the maximum number of quality points the vaccination target
	group should be vaccinated according to coverage targets of 90 per cent or
	higher. We also observed the DTP3 vaccination as an indicator to describe
	the functioning of the health system
Study III	Please see below
Study IV	The total number of visits, number of primary visits (first visit during the
	episode of the illness during one calendar year), secondary visits (repeated
	visits which are needed during the episode of the certain illness during one
	calendar year), home visits and visits provided by the nurse were analysed

In Study I, II and IV we used data of the whole population and all FDs have been involved in the study. In Study III we made a random sampling of the FDs. For this longitudinal study we observed P4P outcome results from the EHIF database data during one calendar year (01.01.2014–31.12.2014). All working FDs in Estonia (N=803) were divided into two groups according to their outcome in the P4P (Table 6). For the study we randomly selected 80 FDs (10 per cent of all working FDs): 40 FDs (50 per cent) with a good outcome and 40 FDs (50 per cent) with a poor outcome, proportionally from the cities and rural areas, and from FDs with a median size of the patient in their lists. Patient lists varied from 1 500 to 2 400. We excluded FDs with big and small size lists. To the group of FDs with a good outcome we selected those who achieved more than 600 points and to the group of FDs with a poor outcome those with less than 200 points in the study period. We selected FDs with a high score and a low score to have more differences between study groups.

Patients with a diagnosis of hypertension and type 2 diabetes (confirmed by FDs according to ICD-10) and who had at least three hypertension or diabetesrelated physician visits before the year 2014 were included to the study. There were no age restrictions in the study.

All patients in the study received a unique ID for studying personal level data and we counted all patient visits to health care providers (HCP): FDs' visits, all outpatient specialist visits and hospital bed days with selected diagnoses (all stages of the hypertension and/or diabetes mellitus type 2) during the period 01.01.2014–31.12.2014 (Study III, Table 2).

Indicator	Number
Number of FDs with list of patients	803
Number of FDs included to the study (10)	80
Number of FDs with a good outcome (480–800 points) (50%)	40
Number of FDs with a poor outcome (0–200 points) (50%)	40
Number of patients in the study group	49 841
Number of patients excluded from the study (3.8%)	1 921
Patients changed FDs list	1 010
Patients died during the study period	911
Number of patients not visited FD within year	1 728
Number of patients included to the study	46 192
Number of visits included to the study	172 623

Table 6. Number of patients included and/or excluded in the study in Estonia, 2014

A visit was defined as one contact with an HCP – face to face consultation, telephone advice or e-mail-based consultation. All these types of visits are counted on EHIF invoices with special service codes.

We counted all visits to the FD and all specialist consultations, numbers of hospital days during the study period and all reasons for hospitalisations. We selected all patients with all diagnoses of hypertension and/or diabetes mellitus type 2 and calculated their mean number of bed days during the study period. We have not investigated the number of hospitalisations.

To understand the possible impact of comorbidity on the visits and hospitalisation, we counted the number of different diagnoses per one person in both groups (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Comorbidity: Number of different of diagnoses per one person in P4P in Estonia, 2014.

6.3. Statistical methods

For all of our studies we used descriptive statistics and the software IBM SPSS Statistics 19. For Study I we also used the software R 2.13.1

The differences between study groups were compared using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test, as the data were not normally distributed; if p was < 0.05, the difference was considered statistically significant (Studies I–IV).

6.4. Ethics

The Research Ethics Committee of the University of Tartu has approved all studies (approval number 162/T-5).
7. RESULTS. IMPACT OF P4P

7.1. FDs and family nurses workload

During the observation period 2005–2011, the number of FDs participating in the P4P increased from 48.2 per cent to 69.2 per cent (Table 6).

At the same time, the number of all visits in primary care, and number of nurse visits, increased as well (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Number of all visits in primary care in Estonia, 2005-2011 (all primary care visits, visits to the family doctor joined to the quality system, visits to the family doctor not joined to the quality system, all nurse visits).

There was a difference in workload between the two groups. FDs participating in P4P had more visits compared to FDs not participating in P4P. In 2006 the difference between the two groups was marginal (1.3 times), but in 2011 the difference was 4.3 times.

The number of visits per one FD differs in the two groups of doctors (Table 7).

Year	Family c	loctors jo	oined to	P4P	Family d	octors not	joined to	P4P
	9001	9002	9004	9015	9001	9002	9004	9015
2005	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	861	712	96	77
2006	1 040	877	116	130	703	605	64	67
2007	1 059	921	102	214	724	645	55	86
2008	1 039	923	80	249	591	532	35	80
2009	987	888	73	277	564	486	31	86
2010	940	816	56	302	485	396	20	96
2011	956	868	54	323	452	389	16	106

 Table 7. Number of primary visits (9001), secondary visits (9002), home visits (9004)

 and nurse visits (9015) per doctor in two groups of FDs in Estonia, 2005–2011

We investigated the numbers of primary visits and secondary visits and the tendency was the same – doctors participating in the P4P had more primary and secondary visits compared to doctors not participating in the P4P. The number of home visits decreased in both groups, but less in the group participating in the P4P (Table 7).

During the observation period 2005–2011, the number of visits per one FD was about the same in the group participating in P4P (1 340 visits in 2006 and 1 355 visits in 2011), but decreased (948 visits in 2006 and 702 visits in 2011) in the group not participating in the P4P. An interesting finding was the shift of the workload to nurses of those FDs participating in P4P (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Number of visits per doctor and number of nurse visits in two different groups in Estonia, 2005–2011.

7.2. Childhood immunisation coverage

Comparing the two groups of FDs, joined to the P4P and not joined, there are significant differences in vaccination coverage in almost all of the vaccinations. There was difference in pertussis I and haemophilus influenza I vaccinations in 2006. In 2012 the difference between the two study groups was not significant for several vaccinations (pertussis I, II, III, diphtheria II and III, tetanus II and III, poliomyelitis II). The largest difference between 2006 and 2012 was in making second and third vaccinations (pertussis, diphtheria, tetanus, poliomyelitis and hepatitis B) (Study II, Table 2).

FDs participating in the P4P reached higher levels of vaccination coverage in all cases of vaccinations compared to FDs not participating to the P4P, and there was an improvement in both groups during the observation period (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Vaccination coverage (%) of all vaccinations (pertussis, diphtheria, tetanus, poliomyelitis, hepatitis B, Haemophilus influenza, measles, mumps, rubella) between family doctors participating and not participating to the P4P in Estonia, 2006–2012.

The diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (DTP3) vaccination coverage rate increased during the observation period in both groups, but FDs participating in the P4P showed higher coverage rates compared to FDs not participating in the P4P (Figure 7 and 8).



Figure 7. DTP3 vaccination coverage between family doctors participating and not participating in the quality system in Estonia, 2006–2012.



Figure 8. Two linear regression models to test the hypothesis that FDs joined to the P4P reached higher levels (percentages) of vaccinations compared to FDs not joined to the P4P in Estonia, 2006–2012.

7.3. The impact of P4P on the number of specialist consultations and hospital bed days

We found significant differences in the mean number of FDs visits. FDs with a good outcome provided more visits to patients with all stages of the hypertension (I, II, or III) and for patients with diabetes mellitus type 2 compared to the poor outcome group. There was also an increased rate of specialist consultations in the good outcome group by patients with hypertension and reduced hospital bed days by both patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2 compared to poor outcome FDs (Study III, Table 2).

7.4. Number of patients with chronic diseases

One of our findings is that the number of patients with chronic diseases (hypertension, type 2 diabetes, myocardial infarction and hypothyreosis) increased greatly during 2006–2012 (Figure 9).

In addition, in Estonia FDs should produce a register of all patients with chronic diseases, search intensively for preventable risk factors and provide counselling and treatment. This means an increased workload and more pressure on primary care team members.



Figure 9. Number of patients of family doctors by groups of chronic diseases in Estonia, 2006–2012.

7.5. Predictors of a good outcome in the P4P system

During the observation period 2006–2012, the number of FDs who achieved a good outcome in the P4P increased. At the beginning of the study period, only 6 per cent of FDs achieved a good outcome, but in 2012 a good outcome was attained by 53 per cent of FDs (Table 8).

Table 8. Num	ber of family	doctors achi	eving a good	outcome	or poor	outcome	in the
P4P system (o	fficial results	of the P4P s	stem during	in Estonia	, 2006–2	2012)	

Outcome	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Good outcome	30	175	224	355	282	397	412
	(6%)	(39%)	(35%)	(52%)	(39%)	(53%)	(53%)
Poor outcome	470	277	418	323	436	358	360
	(94%)	(61%)	(65%)	(48%)	(61%)	(47%)	(47%)

From practice-related characteristics we found the time period of joining the P4P to be one predictor for a good outcome. FDs with a longer history of P4P more often had good outcomes compared to FDs with a shorter history. The number of FDs working in a primary care team had an impact on a good outcome. At the beginning of the study period (in 2006 and 2007) smaller teams achieved a good outcome, but after 2011 teams with more doctors achieved a good outcome.

The number of patients on FDs' lists had an impact on a good outcome only in some years (2010 and 2012), but no impact in other years (2007–2009 and 2011).

Regarding the proportion of chronically ill patients in FDs' lists, only the number of patients with hypertension had an effect on a good outcome in most of the years (2006–2007 and 2009–2012). The number of patients with type 2 diabetes, myocardial infarction and hypothyreosis had an impact on a good outcome only in single year (Table 9 and 10).

			1-2-0 C					e	000	
Year		7	000			/ 007		7	2002	
Characteristics	Groups in P4P	Mean	SD	р	Mean	SD	р	Mean	SD	р
1. Practice related cha	uracteristics									
Time since joining the	Poor outcome				1.90	0.02	0.95	2 .40	0.04	0.48
P4P (years)	Good outcome				1.90	0.02		2 .47	0.05	
Number of FDs in	Poor outcome	5.71	0.33	0.02	7 .25	0.50	00.0	5 .44	0.36	0.27
primary care team	Good outcome	2.23	0.31		3.81	0.40		4.3	0.37	
2. List size										
Number of patients in	Poor outcome				1739.38	22.17	0 .43	1737.39	19.08	0.11
FDs list	Good outcome				1756.49	26.13		1783.93	24.26	
3. Composition of the	patient age in FDs	list								
Number of patients 0-	Poor outcome				32.33	2 .32	00.0	34.73	1.7	0.21
2 years old	Good outcome				39.46	2 .37		35.22	1.95	
Number of patients 2-	Poor outcome				1342 .40	20.18	0.04	1357.04	17.32	0.18
69 years old	Good outcome				1403.30	25.08		1398.82	23.09	
Number of patients	Poor outcome				203.31	7 .22	00.0	197.8	6.12	0.53
70+ years old	Good outcome				167.67	8.7		201.5	7.96	
4. Composition of the	patient diseases (c	hronic disea	ises)							
Patients with type 2	Poor outcome	37.58	1.29	0.08	46.55	1.91	00.0	43.61	1.5	0.45
diabetes	Good outcome	29.97	4.94		35.25	2.26		45.77	2.14	
Patients with	Poor outcome	67.16	3.57	0.09	88.11	5 .69	0.72	85.71	4.17	0.96
hypertension stage 1	Good outcome	49.38	13.28		91.59	8 .29		88.14	5.93	
Patients with	Poor outcome	166.45	6 .45	0.02	187.79	9.01	00.0	165.44	6.8	96.0
hypertension stage 2	Good outcome	97.07	11.65		121.81	8.84		163.99	9.12	
Patients with	Poor outcome	22 .48	1.23	0.21	20.52	1.44	00.0	19.28	1.18	0.09
hypertension stage 3	Good outcome	14.14	2.47		13.18	1.23		16.91	1.71	
Patients with	Poor outcome							13.72	0.6	0.89
myocardial infarction	Good outcome							13.23	0.71	
Patients with	Poor outcome							18.69	0 .84	0.09
hypothyreosis	Good outcome							19.79	1.03	
SD= Standard deviation	u u									

Table 9. Practice and patient-related characteristics by groups in Estonia, 2006–2008

I ADIC TO. LIACHCC AND	pauciii-iciaicu cii	al acter 1501		m sdno	ESWIIIa, 2	07-600	71						
Year			2009		2	010			2011		20	12	
Characteristics	Groups in P4P	Mean	αs	d	Mean	SD	d	Mean	SD	d	Mean	SD	þ
1.Practice related char	acteristics.												
Time since joining the	Poor outcome	2.94	0.06	00.0	3.77	0.06	00.0	4 .32	0.09	00.0	5.09	0.0	00.0
P4P (years)	Good outcome	3.52	0.04		4 .47	0.06		5.33	0.05		6.31	0.05	
Number of FDs in	Poor outcome	5.10	0.39	0.92	4.74	0.30	07.0	4.01	0 .29	00.0	3 .85	0 .28	00.00
primary care team	Good outcome	4.95	0.35		4.83	0.37		5.12	0.31		5.01	0.31	
2. List size													
Number of patients in	Poor outcome	1764.94	22 .41	0.96	1748.18	18.13	0.05	1745.79	21.59	0.11	1727.10	22.04	00.0
FDs list	Good outcome	1763.46	19.01		1795.62	21.75		1795.9	16.83		1810.77	17.11	
3. Composition of the l	patient age in FDs	list											
Number of patients 0-	Poor outcome	35.11	1.95	00.0	37.35	1.52	0.04	36.22	1.65	00.0	55.00*	2 .00	00.0
2 years old	Good outcome	38.49	1.57		41.58	1.89		41.05	1.41		61.00^*	2.00	
Number of patients 2-	Poor outcome	1351.96	20.37	0.44	1326.09	16.50	0.04	1292.68	19.13	0.04	1310.12*	20.56	00.0
69 years old	Good outcome	1372.59	18.02		1384.88	20.93		1348 .48	16.26		1399 .25*	17.82	
Number of patients	Poor outcome	219.04	7 .44	0.06	220.58	6.17	0.07	224.96	6.78	0.24	225.91*	68.9	0.83
years 70+ old	Good outcome	196.75	6.31		201.69	7 .48		211.71	6 .48		220.55*	6.55	
4. Composition of the J	patient diseases (ch	ronic disea	ses)										
Patients with type 2	Poor outcome	47 .63	1.86	0.78	72.55	2.12	0.06	76.04	2 .39	0.66	77 .16	2 .46	0.57
diabetes	Good outcome	47.62	1.67		64 .34	2.21		73 .23	2.11		77 .09	2.14	
Patients with	Poor outcome	67.81	3 .83	00.0	162.56	5 .69	60.0	137.43	4.58	0.86	125.55	4 .08	0.02
hypertension stage 1	Good outcome	84.53	4.41		147.99	6.74		138.46	4 .59		141.30	4 .42	
Patients with	Poor outcome	175.78	7 .92	00.0	196.55	7.15	0.01	210.82	7.27	0.02	212 .44	7 .22	0.02
hypertension stage 2	Good outcome	140.25	6 .33		164.07	7 .36		190.48	6.77		193.41	6.66	
Patients with	Poor outcome	34.9	2 .43	0.74	39.00	2 .05	0.70	53.22	2 .86	0.24	56.20	2.96	0.08
hypertension stage 3	Good outcome	35.58	2.60		40.66	2 .89		49 .43	2.52		50 .43	2.51	
Patients with	Poor outcome	14 .34	0.69	0 .33	21.86	0.75	0 .42	22 .45	0 .84	0.33	22 .90	0 .83	0.01
myocardial infarction	Good outcome	14.93	0.63		20.86	0.89		23.58	0.82		25.81	0.84	
Patients with	Poor outcome	23.39	1.10	0.71	41.22	1 .53	0.47	44 .09	1.77	0.10	41.65	1 .59	00.0
hypothyreosis	Good outcome	22.92	0.94		36.42	1.17		44 .26	1 .29		46.07	1 .33	
Notes: * in 2012 0–3 ye	ars and 3–70 years;	SD= Standa	ard devia	tion									

Table 10. Practice and patient-related characteristics by groups in Estonia, 2009–2012

8. DISCUSSION. IMPACT OF P4P

In 2005 all FD practices in Estonia worked with similar principles. Since 2006 when P4P started, there have been two groups of FDs – participating in P4P and not participating in P4P and according to results in the P4P scheme – FDs with good outcome and FDs with poor outcome. This gave us a good opportunity to investigate the effects of P4P.

Our studies which aimed to find out the impact of P4P on FDs' work and effects for health care (impact on the number of specialist visits and bed days) are one of the few studies in this topic in international literature.

8.1. The workload

We investigated the impact of P4P on workload and found increased workload for FDs and nurses participating in P4P. Falzon et al. [158] also found that P4P had an effect on workload and work intensification. The explanation for increased workload could be more intensive work and recall of chronically ill patients to annual health checks, as well as the more intensive search and call of the patients from FDs' lists to perform activities named in the P4P scheme. P4P is based on preventive work (small children immunisations, check-ups of chronic diseases and visits to detect cardiovascular diseases) and the role of the practice nurse is very important. Since 2013 the EHIF is also funding the second nurse in the FDs' contract and this could help to divide the workload between nurses and give FDs more time and attention to chronic and preventive care.

8.2. Prevention

From preventive work we observed childhood immunisations and have found that FDs participating in the P4P had better immunisation coverage rates than FDs not participating in the P4P. FDs participating in the P4P met the WHO criteria in all vaccinations and FDs not participating in the P4P met none of them. Several countries include paediatric immunisations in their P4P systems, which have had positive effects on childhood immunisation coverage rates [137,158–159] and the OECD has included immunisation coverage rates to important QIs. [160] In addition, P4P in Estonia includes childhood immunisation rates. Coverage rates for the DTP3 vaccine are used as an indicator of how well the health system is functioning. [161] This is because children require multiple contacts with the health system for full vaccination. [162] The total immunisation coverage with three doses of the DTP3 vaccine has been sustained at 78 per cent until 2004. One hundred and two countries have reached DTP3 coverage of 90 per cent or more and 80 countries are within the 50-89 per cent range. [163] Estonian DTP3 coverage in 2013 (94 per cent) is behind Finland (98 per cent) and Sweden (98 per cent), but at the same level as

Latvia (94 per cent) and Norway (94 per cent) and better than Lithuania (93 per cent). [164] The DTP3 coverage was lowest in Estonia at 1991 (67 per cent), increasing stepwise until 2005 (96 per cent) and remains stable until nowadays (93–94 per cent). In our study, the DTP3 vaccines coverage rate was better in FDs participating in the P4P (reaching almost 90 per cent coverage), but FDs not participating in the P4P were below this criterion during the whole observation period. The explanation for this could be the influence of P4P and motivation to deal more accurately with small children check-ups and immunisations.

To achieve high levels of vaccination and revaccination coverage rates, FDs should combine different methodologies [165] (regular visits, reminders and recalling, providing information about the importance of vaccinations and recommendations for vaccinations and revaccinations). Achieving target levels is sometimes very difficult and FDs should work harder and encourage parents to get their children vaccinated at the right time, but this extra work is rewarded with extra payment form P4P.

8.3. Number of specialist consultations and hospital bed days in Estonia

Several studies have investigated the role of primary care [25–26] and the role of P4P to link financial rewards of quality and performance [166] and to motivate FDs for activities to reduce specialist visits and avoid hospitalisations for chronic patients. Iezzi et al. [123] showed that financial payment might help improve the quality of care and reduce hospitalisations.

In our study, P4P had an impact on the number of visits to FDs, increasing it. P4P has also increased the number of visits to the specialists. It is probably because FDs in the P4P system pay more attention to detecting chronic diseases in their early stages, and actively recall patients for general health check-ups. This increases the number of visits, both of the FDs and the nurses. [85] One earlier study showed that the implementation of P4P reduced the rate of specialist consultations and hospitalisations [124] and we also expected that with more accurate monitoring of chronic diseases in primary care we could reduce the workload for specialists, but we could not prove it. Another expectation for our study was to find out how P4P affects hospitalisations. Caminal et al. [169] described the role of primary care as being responsible for preventing hospitalisation. This included primary prevention, early detection and monitoring of acute episodes, and follow-up and monitoring of chronic conditions. Recent studies showed that P4P reduced the likelihood of diabetes-related hospitalisations for diabetic patients [127–128] and we have similar findings. In our study, hypertensive patients were in hospital for fewer days. However, it is very difficult to conclude whether the decreased number of days in hospital was due to the P4P.

8.4. Chronic diseases

The National Chronic Disease Strategy states that chronic diseases have clearly preventable risk factors, therefore early detection of them is very important to reduce the onset, causes, complications or recurrence of disease.[170] Paying more attention to detecting chronic diseases in their early stages, recalling patients for general health check-ups and immunising children can increase the number of the patients in the target groups of chronically ill patients, due to a "seek and you will find" strategy, and intensifies the work thereof even more. In our study we have found an increased number of patients with chronic diseases in FDs' lists. The explanation for this could be the intensive search of diseases mentioned in the P4P scheme and better counting in electronic health records (EHR) and EHIF invoices. Sometimes EHR and EHIF invoices are not absolutely correct and there could be some mistakes in ICD coding (double or false coding), and this could influence the number of chronic diseases in FDs' lists. In addition, there could be mistakes from specialist consultations and their EHIF invoices, when the symptoms are classified as ICD diseases code. For example, elevated blood pressure or elevated glucose level are classified as hypertension or diabetes. The number of patients with myocardial infarction is usually not a result of double or false coding, this number increased as a result of intensive search.

Chronically ill patients are included into FDs' P4P observation list only if the same patient has the same diagnosis a minimum of three times, to exclude data entry errors and misdiagnosis. Since 2010 EHIF has collected all ICD-10 codes from the EHIF database and formed for FDs a list of chronically diseases and FDs had possibility to exclude or include patients from or into these lists. If a patient is in a FD's list with false coding of chronically disease (hypertension, type 2 diabetes, myocardial infarction, hypothyreosis), it is very difficult for FDs to exclude this patient from this list and this could be also reason for increased numbers of patients with chronically diseases in FDs' lists.

8.5. Preconditions for good outcome in P4P system

P4P is an incentive scheme and should motivate all participants to achieve a good outcome. [171] For policymakers it is very important to know which aspects of P4P could predict a good outcome, save money and have an influence on health gain. We observed different practice and patient-related characteristics to find out their impact on good outcomes.

Kelly and Stoye [172] showed that smaller practices are associated with poorer quality in primary care services. Single-handed practices have the lowest average QOF scores, while large practices (with more than six FDs) achieve the highest average scores. We also had similar findings and if we examine our study for different practice and patient-related characteristics and evaluate their impact on a good outcome, then primary care teams with a higher number of FDs, longer history of participation in the P4P and smaller number of patients on FDs' lists showed better results. Older patients with increased rates of chronic disease and a higher number of patients with chronic diseases on FDs' lists are more typical for a poor outcome [173], which was also confirmed in our study. Van den Hombergh and Campbell [174] investigated the optimal size of practices and concluded that larger practices can do better. Devlin at al. [175] also described that a larger group size is associated with better access and comprehensiveness. Gillam et al. [107] showed that group practices have better outcomes and patient satisfaction, as well as better continuity of care. We also had similar findings, as at the beginning of the P4P, single-handed FDs also showed a good outcome, but it seems that over time small teams became overloaded with increased workloads (more detected chronically ill patients in the list and higher target levels) and did not achieve a good outcome. At the same time, primary care teams with multiple FDs were probably able to organise their work more efficiently to achieve a good outcome.

8.6. Strengths and limitations of the study

The strength of the study is that we have used the data of the majority of the population and all FDs have been involved in the study in Study I–II and IV. For Study III we used random sampling. We believe that our sample was representative and reliable.

A limitation of this study can be that the data obtained from the registry database can contain some data entry errors and the reliability of the source data cannot be checked without conducting a follow-up study. Furthermore, health service invoices that are electronically submitted to the EHIF are governed by specific rules. Previous studies on data quality in the Cancer Registry and Birth Registry have shown that medical data in the registries are reliable. We assumed that any inaccuracies were distributed evenly all over the Estonian population. Chronically ill patients are included into FDs' P4P observation list only if the same patient has the same diagnosis a minimum of three times, to exclude data entry errors and misdiagnosis.

9. CONCLUSIONS

1. P4P has a substantial impact on the workload of the primary care team and their members: the number of visits increased for doctors (FDs and specialists) and nurses.

Although hospital bed days were reduced in some circumstances, we could not see the clear effects of P4P on better outcomes for the health care.

- 2. FDs participating in the P4P scheme had better immunisation coverage than FDs not participating in the P4P.
- 3. Primary care teams with multiple FDs and a longer history of participation in the P4P showed better results.

10. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Perearstiabi tulemuslikkus: tasustamise ja praksisetegurite mõju

Sissejuhatus

Eesti tervishoiusüsteemi osad on esmatasandi arstiabi (perearstiabi, seaduses defineeritud kui üldarstiabi), eriarstiabi (ambulatoorne ja statsionaarne eriarstiabi), hambaravi ja ennetustegevus (skriininguprogrammid, koolitervishoid jt). Eesti perearstide enamiku moodustavad iseseisvad eraettevõtjad, kellel on Eesti Haigekassaga üldarstiabi rahastamise leping. Perearstide leping Eesti Haigekassaga on mitmetahuline, hetkel kehtiv leping koosneb pearahast (viis vanuserühma), baastasust, uuringufondist (protsent pearahast), teraapia- ja tegevusfondist, kauguse tasust (kaks kategooriat), kvaliteeditasust, lisatasust teise pereõe olemasolul ja lisatasust pikendatud lahtioleku korral.

Perearstide kvaliteedisüsteem (PKS) on süsteemne lähenemine, mille eesmärk on haigused varakult avastada ja vältida nende progresseerumist esmatasandis. PKS Eestis koosneb kolmest osast: haiguste ennetamine (vaktsineerimine, laste tervise kontroll, südame- ja veresoonkonna haiguste ennetamine), krooniliste haigustega (teist tüüpi diabeet, kõrgvererõhutõbi, müokardiinfarkti ravi järel ja hüpotüreoos) patsientide jälgimine ja täiendavad lisategevused. Perearsti kvaliteeditasus osalemine on vabatahtlik, osalemine PKSis suurendab perearsti uuringufondi ja hea tulemus (kaks kategooriat) suurendab perearsti lepingutasu 2–4%. Iga teostatud tegevus annab perearstile teatud arvu punkte, mille alusel makstakse lisatasu. Vähem kui 479 punkti (<75% punktidest) annab rahuldava (meie uuringutes *poor outcome*), 480–539 punkti hea ja 540–640 punkti väga hea tulemuse (meie uuringutes kaks viimast kokku *good outcome*).

PKSid on kasutusel paljudes riikides (Ühendkuningriik (UK), USA, Austraalia, Kanada, Itaalia, Hispaania jt) ja on riigiti erinevalt tasustatud. Kvaliteedi mõõtmiseks kasutatakse kvaliteediindikaatoreid, mida võib olla vähe (nt Austraalias 7) või palju (nt UK-s 134). Kvaliteediindikaatorite valik on keeruline ja aeganõudev, iga riik on leidnud oma lahenduse.

Esmatasandi arstiabi kvaliteeti jälgitakse enam kui 30 Euroopa riigis ning kvaliteeditasu suurus varieerub riigiti. UK-s moodustab see kuni 25% perearstide sissetulekust, aga teistes riikides keskmiselt 5–10% (Eestis 2–4%), sh Itaalias ja Hispaanias 1%.

PKSile on omistatud hulgaliselt kasulikke omadusi: tervishoiukulutuste parem jälgimine, vaktsineerimiste kasv, väiksem hospitaliseerimiste arv, vähenenud hooldusabi vajadus jne.

Samas on uuringuid, mis ei ole leidnud nii olulist mõju. On kirjeldatud ka negatiivset efekti: raske haigusega patsientidele muutus tervishoiusüsteemi sissepääsemine keerulisemaks, sest tervishoiuteenuse osutajatel tekkis tahtmine selliseid patsiente mitte vastu või arvele võtta, et niiviisi parandada oma tulemust kvaliteedisüsteemis. Samuti on leitud, et PKSi rakendamise esimestel aastatel andsid programmilised tegevused häid tulemusi, ent mõne aasta pärast saavutati teatud nivoo ja edasist arengut ei toimunud.

On leitud, et PKS suurendab arstide töökoormust. UK-s tõusis pärast kvaliteedisüsteemi rakendamist perearstide töökoormus ja tekkis vajadus võtta tööle rohkem perearste, õdesid ja administratiivtöötajaid. Perearstid hakkasid tegelema keerulisemate haigusjuhtumitega, rutiinsed ülevaatused suunati õdedele, kelle töökoormus kasvas seetõttu hüppeliselt.

PKSi tulemusel on paranenud ravikvaliteet ja vähenenud hospitaliseerimiste arv, seda eelkõige krooniliste haigustega (nt diabeet) patsientide puhul (Austraalia). Esimesel aastal suurenes diabeediga patsientidel perearsti visiitide arv 4% ja eriarsti visiitide arv vähenes 20%, vähem hospitaliseeriti selliseid patsiente ka järgnevatel aastatel. On täheldatud PKSi positiivset mõju haiguste ennetamisele (nt vaktsineerimine, vähi skriininguprogrammid) (USA; Hudson Health Plan). Krooniliste haiguste (hüpertensioon, diabeet jt) jälgimine paranes ja perearstide nimistutesse lisandus selliste haigustega patsiente. PKSi haaratud patsientidel oli vererõhk ja lipiidide profiil parema kontrolli all, neid oli harvem hospitaliseeritud kardiovaskulaarsetel põhjustel (USA).

Eestis rakendus PKS 2006. aastal eesmärgiga soodustada kvaliteetsete teenuste osutamist esmatasandis, motiveerida perearste tegelema krooniliste haigete ja laste jälgimisega (vaktsineerimine) ja vähendada eriarstiabi vajadust. Tänaseks on PKSi juurutamisest möödas juba kümme aastat, saame teha järeldusi ja kokkuvõtteid.

Uurimistöö eesmärgid

Uurimistöö eesmärk oli võrrelda kvaliteedisüsteemiga ühinenud ja mitteühinenud perearstide töökoormust (esimene artikkel) ning kvaliteeditasu mõju vaktsineerimisega hõlmatusele (teine artikkel). Kolmanda artikli eesmärk oli leida kvaliteeditasu mõju perearstide ja eriarstide töökoormusele ning haigla ravipäevade arvule. Neljandas artiklis analüüsisime eri tegureid, mis võivad mõjutada kvaliteedisüsteemis osalemise tulemuslikkust.

Uuritavad ja meetodid

Esimesse, teise ja neljandasse uuringusse kaasati kõik Eestis töötavad perearstid: PKSiga ühinenud perearstid (500 (37,3%) 2006. aastal ja 772 (96,6%) 2012. aastal) ning PKSiga mitteühinenud perearstid (vastavalt 297 (62,7%) ja 27 (3,4%)). Kolmas uuring tehti valimi põhjal. Eesti Haigekassasse saadetud raviarvete alusel analüüsiti perearstide töökoormust, laste vaktsineerimisega hõlmatust, perearstide ja eriarstide visiitide arvu ning krooniliste haigustega patsientide (hüpertensioon ja teist tüüpi diabeet) haigla voodipäevade hõlmatust. Vaadeldi perearstipraksist iseloomustavate tegurite mõju kvaliteeditasu tulemusele. Võrdlusrühmad moodustati PKSis saadud tulemuste põhjal.

Esimeses töös uuriti PKSi mõju PKSis osalevate ja PKSis mitteosalevate perearstide töökoormusele 2005.–2012. aastal. Töökoormus oli määratletud kahel viisil: 1) perearsti ja pereõe visiitide arv Eestis uuritavas ajavahemikus, 2) visiitide arv perearsti ja pereõe kohta.

Arvesse võeti kõikide visiitide arv, esmaste visiitide (esmane perearsti külastus ühe haigusperioodi vältel ühes kalendriaastas), korduvate visiitide (ühe haigusepisoodi vältel kõik järgnevad visiidid pärast esmast visiiti ühe kalendriaasta jooksul), koduvisiitide ja pereõe visiitide arv.

Teises uuringus võrreldi PKSis osalevate ja PKSis mitteosalevate perearstide nimistutes olevate laste vaktsineerimisega hõlmatust 2006.–2012. aastal.

Kolmandas uuringus vaadeldi PKSi mõju PKSis hea ja rahuldava tulemuse saanud perearstide ja eriarstide visiitidele ning haigla voodipäeva hõlmatusele ühe kalendriaasta vältel (01.01.2014–31.12.2014). Kõikidest 2014. aastal Eestis töötavatest perearstidest (N = 803) valiti juhuvalikuga välja 80 perearsti (10%), kes said PKSis hea tulemuse (good outcome) ja 80 perearsti, kes said rahuldava tulemuse (poor outcome). Valim koosnes proportsionaalselt maal ja linnas töötavatest perearstidest ja nimistutest suurusega 1500–2400 patsienti. Valimisse ei valitud väga suuri (>2400) ega väga väikesi (<1500) nimistuid. Hea tulemusega perearstid said PKSis üle 600 ja rahuldava tulemusega perearstid alla 200 punkti.

Krooniliste haiguste korral vaatlesime hüpertensiooniga (kõik raskusastmed) ja teist tüüpi diabeediga patsiente; uuringusse kaasasime ainult need, kellel oli enne 2014. aastat vähemalt kolm nimetatud haigustega seotud visiiti. Kõik patsiendid said unikaalse märgistuse, lugesime kokku iga patsiendi kõik visiidid tervishoiuteenuse osutajate juurde: perearsti visiidid, eriarsti ambulatoorsed visiidid ja voodipäeva hõlmatuse uuringuperioodil ning eelpool nimetatud kahe haiguse korral. Visiidina käsitlesime patsiendi konsulteerimist arstikabinetis, telefonikonsultatsiooni ja meili teel nõustamist. Kõik need visiidid on Eesti Haigekassa arvetel tähistatud erinevate teenusekoodidega. Uuringus ei vaadel-dud hospitaliseerimiste arvu.

Neljandas uuringus otsiti praksisest ja nimistu struktuurist lähtuvate tunnuste alusel erinevusi, mis on rohkem iseloomulikud PKSis hea tulemuse saavutanud perearstidele. Uuritav ajavahemik oli 2006.–2012. aasta, mille ajal suurenes osalejate arv 500-lt 772-le. Perearstid jagati kahte rühma nende tulemuse järgi PKSis: hea tulemusega 30 (6%) perearsti 2006. aastal ja 412 (53%) perearsti 2012. aastal ning rahuldava tulemusega vastavalt 470 (94%) ja 360 (47%) perearsti. Töös vaadeldi perearstipraksiste iseloomustavaid tunnuseid (nimistu suurus, koos töötavate perearstide arv) ja nimistut iseloomustavaid tunnuseid (patsiendi vanus, krooniliste haigete arv nimistus). Krooniliste haiguste all mõeldi PKSis jälgitavaid haigusi (kõrgvererõhutõve kõik astmed, teist tüüpi diabeet, müokardiinfarkt ja hüpotüreoos).

Andmete uurimisel kasutasime kirjeldava statistika meetodit. Erinevust kahe rühma vahel võrdlesime mitteparameetrilise Manni-Whitney U-testiga, sest andmed ei olnud normaaljaotusega. Kui p väärtus oli <0,05, siis oli erinevus statistiliselt oluline. Teises uuringus kasutasime lisaks kaht lineaarse regressiooni mudelit, et võrrelda vaktsineerimisega hõlmatust kahe uuringurühma vahel.

Andmete analüüsimisel kasutasime andmetöötlustarkvara R 2.13.1 (esimene uuring) ja IBM SPSS Statistics 19 (esimene kuni neljas uuring).

Kõik uuringud olid heaks kiidetud Tartu Ülikooli inimuuringute eetika komitees. Seda doktoriväitekirja ja neljandat uuringut toetas Eesti Teadusfondi grant ETF7596 "Arstiabi järjepidevus kui oluline arstiabi kvaliteedi näitaja: patsientide hinnangud arstiabi järjepidevusele ning järjepidevuse seos oluliste tervisetulemitega".

Uurimustöö peamised tulemused

Uuringuperioodil (2005.–2012. aastal) suurenes PKSis osalevate perearstide arv 48,2%-lt 69,2%-le. Samal ajavahemikul suurenes perearstidele ja pereõdedele tehtud visiitide arv. PKSiga ühinenud perearstidele tehti rohkem visiite kui mitteühinenud perearstidele. 2006. aastal oli erinevus 1,3-, ent 2011. aastal juba 4,3-kordne. PKSiga ühinenud perearstidele tehti rohkem nii esmaseid kui korduvaid visiite. Visiitide arv perearsti kohta oli PKSiga ühinenud perearstidel praktiliselt muutumatu (1 340 visiiti 2006. aastal ja 1 355 visiiti 2011. aastal), kuid PKSiga mitteühinenud perearstidel vähenes see rohkem kui 200 visiidi võrra (vastavalt 948 ja 702 visiiti). Pereõdede töökoormus kasvas PKSiga ühinenud perearstidel, kuid ei muutunud mitteühinenutel (esimene uuring).

PKSiga ühinenud ja mitteühinenud perearstidel oli laste vaktsineerimisega hõlmatus erinev. Suurim erinevus ilmnes teise ja kolmanda vaktsineerimise (difteeria-teetanus-läkaköha-poliomüeliit ja B-hepatiidi) puhul. PKSiga ühinenud perearstidel oli laste kõikide vaktsineerimistega hõlmatus 2006. aastal 80% ja 2012. aastal 90%, samas mitteühinenud perearstidel vastavalt 75% ja 80% (teine uuring).

Krooniliste haiguste (hüpertensiooni kõik astmed ja teist tüüpi diabeet) jälgimine suurendas PKSis hea tulemuse saanud perearstide (esimene rühm) visiitide arvu võrreldes rahuldava tulemuse saanud perearstidega (teine rühm). Esimeses rühmas suurenes eriarstide visiitide arv hüpertensiooniga patsientidel. Samal ajal vähenes seal voodipäeva hõlmatus hüpertensiooniga ja teist tüüpi diabeediga patsientidel võrreldes teise rühmaga (kolmas uuring).

2006.–2012. aastal suurenes esimese rühma perearstide arv. Kui 2006. aastal saavutas PKSis hea tulemuse 6% perearste, siis 2012. aastal juba 53%. Hea tulemusega perearstidel oli PKSiga liitumise aeg (1,90 aastat 2007. aastal; 6,31 aastat 2012. aastal) ja koos töötavate perearstide arv (2,23 2006. aastal; 5,01 2012. aastal) ning rahuldava tulemusega perearstidel PKSiga liitumise aeg (vastavalt 1,90 ja 5,09), koos töötavate perearstide arv (vastavalt 2,23 ja 3,85). Seega, mida pikemalt on perearst PKSiga liitunud olnud ja mida rohkem on koos töötavaid perearste, seda paremad on tulemused.

Patsientide arv perearstide nimistutes mõjutas PKSis head tulemust kahel aastal (2010 ja 2012), ülejäänud aastatel (2007–2009 ja 2011) aga nimistu suurusel tulemusele mõju ei olnud. Krooniliste haigete arv perearsti nimistus avaldas mõju peaaegu kõigil aastatel (2006–2007 ja 2009–2012). Väiksem nimistu, rohkem lapsi nimistus ja vähem kroonilisi haigeid annab parema tulemuse PKSis (neljas uuring).

Uurimistöö tugevused ning puudused

Uurimistöö tugevus seisneb asjaolus, et oleme kasutanud kogu rahvastikku hõlmavaid andmeid ja et kõik perearstid on kaasatud uuringusse (esimene, teine ja neljas uuring).

Puuduseks on, et kasutatud andmebaas võib sisaldada andmesisestusvigu ja topeltkirjeid, samuti ei ole võimalik kontrollida andmebaasi usaldusväärsust eriuuringuta. Raviteenuste arved edastatakse Eesti Haigekassasse elektroonselt ja töödeldakse vastavalt eeskirjadele. Varasemad uuringud Eesti Vähiregistri ja Meditsiinilise Sünniregistri alusel on näidanud, et niimoodi saadud meditsiinilised andmed on usaldusväärsed. Uuringutes eeldasime, et ebatäpsused on jaotunud ühtlaselt üle kogu andmestiku.

Krooniliste haigustega patsientide puhul on patsient kaasatud PKSi nimekirja juhul, kui samal patsiendil on sama diagnoos vähemalt kolm korda, et välistada andmete sisestusvigu ja väärdiagnoose.

Järeldused

PKS suurendas perearsti ja temaga koos töötavate pereõdede koormust. Pereõdede töökoormus suurenes isegi rohkem, mistõttu perearsti meeskond peaks suurenema, et tööga toime tulla.

Laste vaktsineerimise hõlmatus oli parem PKSiga ühinenud perearstidel. PKSiga mitteühinenud perearstidel oli laste vaktsineerimise hõlmatus allpool nõutud vaktsineerimistaset.

PKS suurendab nii perearstide kui ka eriarstide töökoormust ning ainult vähesel määral vähendab krooniliste haigustega patsientide haiglaravi päevade arvu.

Kuigi PKSis hea tulemuse saanud perearstide krooniliste haigustega patsientide (hüpertensioon ja teist tüüpi diabeet) haigla voodipäevade arv väheneb mõnevõrra, on see muutus tervishoiukorralduslikult mitteoluline; me ei saa kinnitada, et see oleks ainult PKSi mõju.

PKSis saavad parema tulemuse reeglina grupipraksised ja kauem PKSis osalenud perearstid. Väiksem nimistu, rohkem lapsi ja vähem kroonilisi haigeid annab parema tulemuse.

Kokkuvõtteks

PKSil on nii positiivseid kui negatiivseid külgi. PKSiga ühinenud perearstid on paremini motiveeritud, et saada head tulemust, tegelevad intensiivsemalt kõikide oma nimistu patsientidega, avastavad ja kontrollivad haigusi ning organiseerivad tervisekontrolle. Vastukaaluks suureneb töökoormus ja muutub praksisesisene töökorraldus, perearstid suunavad krooniliste haiguste rutiinse kontrolli sagedamini pereõdedele. On näha, et suurenenud nõudmised vajavad suuremat perearsti meeskonda, sest parem tulemus saavutatakse suuremates meeskondades (grupipraksistes). Praegu ei ole meil veel kindlat alust väita, et PKSis osalemisega oleks võimalik saavutada üldises tervishoiusüsteemis paremaid tulemusi. Laste vaktsineerimistega hõlmatus on siin meeldiv positiivne erand.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my deepest graduate to everyone who has contributed to the accomplishment of this thesis. In particular, I would like to thank:

- Professor Ruth Kalda, my supervisor and teacher, for her constructive guidance, support and encouragement. I greatly appreciate the time that she always found for me as well as her highly effectual and pertinent feedback to my work.
- Professor Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos, my teacher, for offering me the opportunity to start the studies and supporting me in difficult times.
- Rauno Salupere the best co-worker and teacher, for help and advice, for sharing his knowledge and experience in statistics.
- Katrin Västra one of the co-authors, for her valuable assistance, help and guidance for data collection.
- I would like to thank Anastassia Kolde and Reet Põldsam for their support and guidance in statistical analysis.
- I am very thankful to Andrew Rozeik, for linguistic revision of the texts of original publications and the manuscript.
- I would like to thank Marje Oona and Anneli Rätsep for their support and guidance during completing this thesis.
- I am very happy to work with Lehte Põder and Liis Põld and other colleagues from the Family Medicine Clinic for creating an excellent working atmosphere.
- To Marika Rosenthal, for her superfast help with articles from medical journals.
- To my family, to my wife Kristel and children Jürgen, Anna-Liisa and specially Andreas, for their patient and love during preparations of this thesis. Sorry Andreas that I sometimes had little time to play with you.
- All my colleagues and co-workers from Nõmme Family Doctors Centre for their support and help during my study. You are great!

This dissertation and Study IV was supported by research grants from the Estonian Science Foundation project ETF7596 "Continuity of care as an important indicator of quality of health care: assessment of the continuity from the perspective of the patients and associations between continuity of care and important health outcomes".

REFERENCES

- 1. OECD: Improving Value in Health Care (Summary in English). 2010 http://www.keepeek.com/Digital-Asset-Management/oecd/social-issues-migrationhealth/improving-value-in-health-care/summary/english_9789264094819-sumen#page2.
- 2. Zejdlova IA. Strategy to Support Improvement of Healthcare Quality. Online J Health Allied Scs. 2012;11(4):1.
- 3. Quality Improvement in Primary Care. June 2014. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. http://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/ factsheets/quality/qipc/index.html
- 4. Gillam S, Siriwardena N. Quality Improvement in Primary Care. London: Radcliffe Publishing; 2014.
- Gosden T, Forland F, Kristiansen IS, Sutton M, Leese B, Giuffrida A et al. Capitation, salary, fee-for-service and mixed systems of payment: effects on the behaviour of primary care physicians. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2000;3(3): CD002215.
- Dan S, Savi R. Payment systems and incentives in primary care: implications of recent reforms in Estonia and Romania. Int J Health Plann Manage,2015;30(3): 204–218.
- Harris M. Payment for performance in the Family Health Programme: lessons from the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. Revista de Saúde Pública 2012; 46(3):577–582.
- 8. Papp R, Borbas I, Dobos E, Bredehorst M, Jaruseviciene L, Balogh S, et al. Perceptions of quality in primary health care: perspectives of patients and professionals based on focus group discussions. BMC Fam Pract. 2014,28;15:128.
- 9. Piligrimienė Z. Measurement Issues in Health Care Service Quality. Economics & Management. 2012,17(1):289–296.
- Friedberg M, Hussey P, Schneider E. Primary care: a critical review of the evidence on quality and costs of health care. Health Aff (Project Hope). 2010,29(5): 766–772.
- 11. Hughes R, Higginson I. Discussion of quality and audit in health. J Health Soc Policy. 2006;22(1):29–38.
- 12. Woodward C. Issues in health services delivery. Improving provider skills. Discussion paper No.1 Strategies for assisting health workers to modify and improve skills; 2000. www.who.int/hrh/documents/en/improve_skills.pdf.
- 13. National Health Service: Quality and Outcomes Framework. http://www.hscic.gov.uk/qof.
- Doran T, Fullwood C, Gravelle H, Reeves D, Kontopantelis E, Hiroeh U, et al. Pay for performance programs in family practices in the United Kingdom. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(4):375–384.
- 15. Roland M, Campbell S, Bailey N, Whalley D, Sibbald B. Financial incentives to improve the quality of primary care in the UK: predicting the consequences of change. Primary Health Care Res Dev. 2006;7(1):18–26.
- 16. Rosenthal MB, Frank RG, Li Z, Epstein AM. Early experience with pay-forperformance: from concept to practice. JAMA. 2005;294(14):1788–1793.
- 17. Petersen LA, Woodard LD, Urech T, Daw C, Sookanan S. Does pay for performance improve the quality of care? Ann Intern Med. 2006;145(4):265–272.

- 18. Wright M. Pay-for-performance programs Do they improve the quality of primary care? Aust Fam Physician. 2012;41(12):989–991.
- 19. Scott A, Sivey P, Ait Ouakrim D, Willenberg L, Naccarella L, Furler J, et al. The effect of financial incentives on the quality of health care provided by primary care physicians. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;9:CD008451.
- 20. Riigikogu. [Description of work for FDs]. Riigi Teataja 2001. Estonian. http://www.riigiteataja.ee/ert/act.jsp?id=788142.
- 21. Aaviksoo A. Performance Payment for Family Physicians. Health Policy Monit 2005 Oct;6 2014 Mar 25]. http://hpm.org/en/Surveys/PRAXIS_-Estonia/06/ Performance Payment for Family Physicians.html.
- 22. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; The publication of the State Gazette. Description of work for family doctors. 2002. Estonian. http://www.riigiteataja.ee/ert/act.jsp?id=788142.
- 23. Thomson S, Osborn R, Squires D, Reed SJ, editors. International Profiles of Health Care Systems. The Commonwealth Fund. 2011. http://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/fund-reports/2011/nov/international-profiles-of-health-care-systems-2011.
- 24. Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of Primary Care to Health Systems and Health. Milbank Q. 2005;83(3):457–502.
- 25. De Maeseneer J, Willems S, De Sutter A, Van de Geuchte I, Billings M. Primary health care as a strategy for achieving equitable care. Health Systems Knowledge Network of the World Health Organization's Commission on Social Determinants of Health. 2007.
- 26. Somers AR. And who shall be the gatekeeper? The role of the primary physician in the health care delivery system. Inquiry. 1983;20(4):301–313.
- 27. Boerma WGW, Dubois CA. Mapping primary care across Europe. In: Saltman RB, Rico A, Boerma WGW, editors. Primary Care in the Driver's Seat? Organizational reform in European primary care. Open University Press: Buckingham; 2006;22–49.
- Schäfer WL, Boerma WG, Kringos DS, De Ryck E, Greß S, Murante AM, et al. Measures of quality, costs and equity in primary health care instruments developed to analyse and compare primary care in 35 countries. Qual Prim Care. 2013; 21(2):67–79.
- 29. Schäfer WL, Boerma WG, Kringos DS, De Maeseneer J, Gress S, Heinemann S, et al. QUALICOPC, a multi-country study evaluating quality, costs and equity in primary care. BMC Fam Pract. 2011;12:115.
- 30. World Health Org. Declaration of Alma-Ata: International conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR. 2006.
- Windak A, Van Hasselt P. In: Oxford Textbook of Primary Medical Care. Jones R, Britten N, Culpepper L, Gass D, Grol R, Mant D et al, editor. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2005. Primary care and general practice in Europe: Central and East; pp. 70–73.
- 32. Marrée J, Groenewegen PP. Back to Bismarck: Eastern European Health Care Systems in Transition. Aldershot: Avebury; 1997.
- 33. World Health Org. The World Health Report 2008: Primary Health Care Now More Than Ever. Geneva, World Health Organisation; 2008.
- 34. Appleby J, Harrison T, Hawkins L, Dixon A. Payment by Results. How can payment systems help to deliver better care? The King's Fund. 2012. http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/payment-by-results-the-kings-fund-nov-2012.pdf.

- 35. Kessels R, Van Herck P, Dancet E, Annemans L, Sermeus W. How to reform western care payment systems according to physicians, policy makers, healthcare executives and researchers: a discrete choice experiment. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015;15(1):1–14.
- 36. Wright DJ. An Equilibrium Model of General Practitioner Payment Schemes. Econ Rec. 2013;89(286):287–299.
- 37. Donabedian A. Evaluating the Quality of Medical Care. Milbank Q. 2005; 83(4):691-729.
- 38. Donaldson MS. Measuring the Quality of Health Care. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 1999.
- 39. Legido-Quigley H, McKee M, Nolte E, Glinos IA. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union: A Case for Action. World Health Organization;2008. http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/98233/E91397.pdf.
- 40. Safran DG, Taira DA, Rogers WH, Kosinski M, Ware JE, Tarlov AR. Linking primary care performance to outcomes of care. J Fam Pract. 1998;47(3):213–220.
- 41. Safran DG, Kosinski M, Tarlov AR, Rogers WH, Taira DH, Lieberman N, et al. The Primary Care Assessment Survey: tests of data quality and measurement performance. Med Care. 1998;36(5):728–739.
- 42. Health Council of the Netherlands. European Primary care. The Hague, Health Council of the Netherlands. 2004.
- 43. Macinko J, Starfield B, Shi L. The contribution of primary care systems to health outcomes within Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries, 1970-1998. Health Serv Res. 2003;38:831–865.
- Delnoij D, Van Merode G, Paulus A, Groenewegen P. Does general practitioner gatekeeping curb health care expenditure? J Health Serv Res Policy. 2000;5:22– 26.
- 45. Shi L, Starfield B, Politzer R, Regan J. Primary care, self-rated health, and reductions in social disparities in health. Health Serv Res. 2002;37:529–550.
- Mark DH, Gottlieb MS, Zellner BB, Chetty VK, Midtling JE. Medicare costs in urban areas and the supply of primary care physicians. J Fam Pract. 1996;43:33– 39.
- 47. Parchman ML, Culler S. Primary care physicians and avoidable hospitalizations. J Fam Pract. 1994;39:123–128.
- 48. Parchman ML, Noel PH, Lee S. Primary care attributes, health care system hassles, and chronic illness. Med Care. 2005. pp. 1123–1129.
- 49. Weissman JS, Gatsonis C, Epstein AM. Rates of avoidable hospitalization by insurance status in Massachusetts and Maryland. JAMA. 1992;268:2388–2394
- 50. Kroneman MW, Maarse H, van der Zee J. Direct access in primary care and patient satisfaction: a European study. Health Policy. 2006;76:72–79.
- 51. van der Zee J, Kroneman MW. Bismarck or Beveridge: a beauty contest between dinosaurs. BMC Health Serv Res. 2007;7:94.
- 52. Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. Milbank Q. 2005;83:457–502.
- 53. Lee A, Kiyu A, Milman HM, Jimenez J. Improving health and building human capital through an effective primary care system. J Urban Health. 2007;84:i75–i85
- 54. Boerma WG, van der Zee J, Fleming DM. Service profiles of general practitioners in Europe. European GP Task Profile Study. Br J Gen Pract. 1997;47:481–486.
- 55. Boerma WGW. Profiles of general practices in Europe. An international study of variation in the tasks of general practitioners. Utrecht: NIVEL; 2003.

- 56. Švab I, Pavlic DR, Radic S, Vainiomaki P. General practice east of Eden: an overview of general practice in Eastern Europe. Croat Med J. 2004;45:537–542.
- 57. Campbell SM, Braspenning J, Hutchinson A, Marshall MN. Research methods used in developing and applying quality indicators in primary care. BMJ. 2003; 326(7393):816–819.
- 58. Wan TT, Connell AM. Monitoring the Quality of Health Care: Issues and Scientific Approaches. New York: Springer Science & Business Media;2012.
- 59. Schäfer W, Groenewegen PP, Hansen J, Black N. Priorities for health services research in primary care. Qual Prim Care. 2011;19(2):77–83.
- 60. Jones P, Shepherd M, Wells S, Le Fevre J, Ameratunga S. Review article: what makes a good healthcare quality indicator? A systematic review and validation study. Emerg Med Australas . 2014 April;26(2):113–124.
- 61. Wilson KJ. Pay-for-Performance in Health Care. Q Manage Health Care. 2013; 22(1):2–15.
- 62. Gosden T, Forland F, Kristiansen IS, et al. Impact of payment method on behavior of primary care physicians: a systematic review. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2001;6(1):44–55.
- 63. Medicare Australia Web site. http://www.medicareaustralia.gov.au/provider/ incentives/pip/index.jsp
- 64. Duckett S, Daniels S, Kamp M, Stockwell A, Walker G, Ward M. Pay for performance in Australia: Queensland's new Clinical Practice Improvement Payment. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2008;13(3):174–177.
- 65. Lindenauer PK, Remus D, Roman S, Rothberg MB, Benjamin EM, Ma A, et al. Public reporting and pay for performance in hospital quality improvement. New Engl J Med. 2007;356(5):486–496.
- 66. OECD Home. Health Care Quality Indicators Primary Care. 2016. http://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/hcqi-primary-care.htm
- 67. Smith PC, Mossialos E, Papanicolas I. Performance measurement for health system improvement: experiences, challenges and prospects. World Health Organization 2008 and World Health Organization, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2008. http://www.who.int/management/district/performance/PerformanceMeasurementHealthSystemImprovement2.pdf.
- 68. van Leijen-Zeelenberg J, Elissen A, Grube K, van Raak A, Vrijhoef B, Ruwaard D, et al. The influence of redesigning care processes on quality of care: a systematic review. Int J Integr Care. 2015;15(5):151–152.
- 69. Folland S, Goodman AC, Stano M. Asymmetric Information and Agency. The Economics of Health and Health Care. 5th ed. Pearson Prentice Hall;2006.
- 70. Dusheiko M, Gravelle H, Martin S, Smith P. Quality of disease management and risk of mortality in English primary care practices. Health Serv Res. 2015;50(5): 1452–1471.
- 71. Serumaga B, Ross-Degnan D, Avery AJ, Elliott RA, Majumdar SR, Zhang F, et al. Effect of pay for performance on the management and outcomes of hypertension in the United Kingdom: interrupted time series study. BMJ. 2011;342:d108.
- 72. Alshamsan R, Majeed A, Ashworth M, Car J, Millett C. Impact of pay for performance on inequalities in health care: systematic review. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2010;15(3):178–184.
- 73. Crosson J, Ohman-Strickland P, Campbell S, Phillips R, Roland M, Crabtree B, et al. A comparison of chronic illness care quality in US and UK family medicine practices prior to pay-for-performance initiatives. Fam Pract. 2009;26(6):510–516.

- 74. Scheller-Kreinsen D, Blümel M, Busse R. Chronic disease management in Europe. Eurohealth. 2009;15(1):1.
- 75. Gemmill M. Research note: Chronic disease management in Europe. European Commission Directorate-General "Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities" Unit E1-Social and Demographic Analysis;2008.
- Nolte E, Knai C, McKee M. Managing chronic conditions: experience in eight countries. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe;2008.
- 77. Kringos DS, Boerma WGW, Bourgueil Y, Cartier T, Hasvold T, Hutchinson A, et al. The European primary care monitor: structure, process and outcome indicators. BMC Fam Pract. 2010;11:81–88.
- 78. Kolozsvária L R, Orozco-Beltranb D, Rurikc I. Do family physicians need more payment for working better? Financial incentives in primary care. Aten Primaria. 2014;46(5):261–266.
- 79. Tõrvand T. Pay-for-performance in health care and its impact on doctor's behaviour based on example of Estonian primary health care. 2010. Estonian. http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/4222/1/torvand_triin.pdf.
- 80. Tsai AC, Morton SC, Mangione CM, Keeler EB. A meta-analysis of interventions to improve care for chronic illnesses. Am J Manag Care. 2005;11(8):478–488.
- 81. Woolhandler S, Ariely D, Himmelstein DU. Why pay for performance may be incompatible with quality improvement. BMJ. 2012;345:e5015.
- 82. Custers T, Klazinga NS, Brown AD. Increasing performance of health care services within economic constraints: working towards improved incentive structures. Arztl Fortbild Qualitatssich. 2007;101(6):381.
- 83. Sicsic J, Le Vaillant M, Franc C. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations in primary care: An explanatory study among French general practitioners. Health Policy. 2012;108(2-3):140–148.
- 84. Masseria C, Irwin R, Thomson S, Gemmill M, Mossialos E. Primary Care in Europe. Social and demographic analysis. European Commission. 2009. http://ec.europa.eu/ social/BlobServlet?docId=4739&langId=en.
- 85. Mannion R, Davies HTO. Payment for performance in health care. BMJ. 2008;336(7639):306–308.
- Steel N, Maisey S, Clark A, Fleetcroft R, Howe A. Quality of clinical primary care and targeted incentive payments: an observational study. Br J Gen Pract. 2007; 57(539):449.
- 87. Australian Government. Department of Health. Immunise Australia program. 2015. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/immunise/publishing.nsf/Content/history-of-ia-prog.
- 88. Glazier RH, Klein-Geltink J, Kopp A, Sibley LM. Capitation and enhanced feefor-service models for primary care reform: a population-based evaluation. CMAJ. 2009;180(11):E72–E81.
- 89. Tawfik-Shukor AR, Klazinga NS, Arah OA. Comparing health system performance assessment and management approaches in the Netherlands and Ontario, Canada. BMC Health Serv Res. 2007;7:25–37.
- Donatini A, Romagna E, Reed SJ, Squires D. The Italian health care system. International Profiles of Health Care. Washington, DC: Commonwealth Fund; 2011:67–74.

- 91. Lo Scalso A, Donatini A, Orzella L, Cicchetti A, Profili S, Maresso A. Italy: health system review. Health Syst Transit. 2009;11(6):1–216.
- 92. Benavent J, Juan C, Clos J, Sequeira E, Gimferrer N, Vilaseca J. P4P in primary healthcare centres in Spain. Qual Prim Care. 2009;17(2):123–131.
- 93. CatSalut. Compra de Serveis 2011: Contractes d'Atencio Primaria (2011 Purchasing Contract: Primary Care Services). Barcelona: Divisio d'Avaluacio de Serveis; 2009. Spanish.
- 94. NHS Employers. The new QOF areas and indicators. 2012. http://www.nhsemployers.org/your-workforce/primary-care-contacts/generalmedical-service/quality-and-outcomes-framework.
- 95. Oliver A. The Veterans Health Administration: An American success story? Milbank Q. 2007;85(1):5–35.
- 96. Medicine Io. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2001.
- 97. Rosenthal MB, Fernandopulle R, Song HR, Landon B. Paying For Quality: Providers' Incentives For Quality Improvement. Health Affairs. 2004;23(2):127–141.
- 98. Starfield B, Mangin D. An international perspective on the basis for payment for performance. Qual Prim Care. 2010;18(6):399–404.
- 99. Van Herck P, De Smedt D, Annemans L, Remmen R, Rosenthal MB, Sermeus W. Systematic review: Effects, design choices, and context of pay-for-performance in health care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010;10:247–259.
- 100. de Bruin SR, Baan CA, Struijs JN. Pay-for-performance in disease management: a systematic review of the literature. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011;11:272.
- 101. Roland M. The Quality and Outcomes Framework: too early for a final verdict. Br J Gen Pract. 2007;57(540):525–527.
- 102. Lester H, Roland M. Future of Quality Measurement. BMJ. 2007;335:1130-1131.
- 103. van den Heuvel H, Mand P, Heim S, Hummers-Pradier E. Views of German general practitioners on the clinical indicators of the British Quality and Outcomes Framework: a qualitative study. Qual Prim Care. 2010;18(2):85–92.
- 104. Norton EC. Incentive regulation of nursing homes. J Health Econ. 1992; 11(2): 105–128.
- 105. Fairbrother G, Siegel MJ, Friedman S, Kory PD, Butts GC. Impact of Financial Incentives on Documented Immunization Rates in the Inner City: Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial. Ambul Pediatr. 2001;1(4):206–212.
- 106. Lai C-L, Hou Y-H. Original Article: The association of clinical guideline adherence and pay-for-performance among patients with diabetes. J Chin Med Assoc. 2013;76(2):102–107.
- 107. Gillam SJ, Siriwardena AN, Steel N. Pay-for-Performance in the United Kingdom: Impact of the Quality and Outcomes Framework – A Systematic Review. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(5):461–468.
- 108. Hillman AL, Ripley K, Goldfarb N, Nuamah I, Weiner J, Lusk E. Physician financial incentives and feedback: Failure to increase cancer screening in Medicaid managed care. Am J Public Health. 1998;88(11):1699–1701.
- 109. Shen Y. Selection Incentives in a Performance-Based Contracting System. Health Serv Res. 2003;38(2):535–552.
- 110. Roski J, Jeddeloh R, An L, Lando H, Hannan P, Hall C, et al. The impact of financial incentives and a patient registry on preventive care quality: Increasing

provider adherence to evidence-based smoking cessation practice guidelines. Prev Med. 2003;36(3):291–299.

- 111. Doran T, Kontopantelis E, Valderas JM, Campbell S, Roland M, Salisbury C, et al. Effect of financial incentives on incentivised and non-incentivised clinical activities: longitudinal analysis of data from the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. BMJ. 2011;343:83.
- 112. Gravelle H, Sutton M, Ma A. Doctor behaviour under a pay for performance contract: treating, cheating and case finding? Econ J (London). 2010;120:F129– F156.
- 113. Chen T, Chung K, Lin I, Lai M. The Unintended Consequence of Diabetes Mellitus Pay-for-Performance (P4P) Program in Taiwan: Are Patients with More Comorbidities or More Severe Conditions Likely to Be Excluded from the P4P Program?. Health Serv Res. 2011;46(1):47–60.
- 114. Peckham S, Wallace A. Pay for performance schemes in primary care: what have we learnt? Qual Prim Care. 2010;18(2):111–116.
- 115. Fleetcroft R, Parekh-Bhurke S, Howe A, Cookson R, Swift L, Steel N. The UK pay-for-performance programme in primary care: estimation of population mortality reduction. Br J Gen Pract. 2010;60(578):649.
- 116. Walker S, Mason AR, Claxton K, Cookson R, Fenwick E, Fleetcroft R, et al. Value for money and the Quality and Outcomes Framework in primary care in the UK NHS. Br J Gen Pract. 2010;60(574):e213–e220.
- 117. Gemmell I, Campbell S, Hann M, Sibbald B. Assessing workload in general practice in England before and after the introduction of the pay-for-performance contract. J Adv Nurs. 2009;65(3):509–515.
- 118. Lunt N, Atkin K, Hirst M. Staying single in the 1990s: Single-handed practitioners in the new National Health Service. Soc Sci Med. 2016; 45(3): 341–349.
- 119. Charles-Jones H, Latimer J, May C. Transforming general practice: the redistribution of medical work in primary care. Sociol Health Illn. 2003;25(1):71–92.
- 120. Horrocks S, Anderson E, Salisbury C. Systematic Review Of Whether Nurse Practitioners Working In Primary Care Can Provide Equivalent Care To Doctors. BMJ. 2002;324:819.
- 121. Laurant MGH, Hermens RPMG, Braspenning JCC, Sibbald B, Grol RPTM. Impact of nurse practitioners on workload of general practitioners: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2004;328:927.
- 122. Whalley D, Gravelle H, Sibbald B. Effect of the new contract on GPs' working lives and perceptions of quality of care: a longitudinal survey. Br J Gen Pract. 2008;58(546):8–14.
- 123. Iezzi E, Bruni M, Ugolini C. The role of GP's compensation schemes in diabetes care: Evidence from panel data. J Health Econ. 2014;34:104–120.
- 124. Kalda R, Västra K. The effect of continuous monitoring of hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus on the number of visits to medical specialists and hospitalization: a retrospective study. Medicina (Kaunas). 2013;49(11):490–496.
- 125. Zhao Y, Connors C, Lee A, Liang W. Relationship between primary care visits and hospital admissions in remote Indigenous patients with diabetes: A multi-variate spline regression model. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015;108(1):106–112.
- 126. Chen C, Cheng S. Does pay-for-performance benefit patients with multiple chronic conditions? Evidence from a universal coverage health care system. Health Policy Plan. 2015;31(1):83–90.

- 127. Lippi Bruni M, Nobilio L, Ugolini C. Economic incentives in general practice: the impact of pay-for-participation and pay-for-compliance programs on diabetes care. Health Policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2009;90(2–3):140–148.
- 128. Chen J, Tian H, Juarez D, Hodges K, Brand J, Legorreta A, et al. The Effect of a PPO Pay-for-Performance Program on Patients With Diabetes. Am J Manag Care. 2010;16(1):E11–E19.
- 129. Harrison M, Dusheiko M, Sutton M, Gravelle H, Doran T, Roland M. Effect of a national primary care pay for performance scheme on emergency hospital admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions: controlled longitudinal study. BMJ. 2014;349:g6423.
- 130. Cheng S, Lee T, Chen C. A Longitudinal Examination of a Pay-for-Performance Program for Diabetes Care Evidence From a Natural Experiment. Med Care. 2012;50(2):109–116.
- 131. Bottle A, Gnani S, Saxena S, Aylin P, Mainous A, Majeed A. Association between quality of primary care and hospitalization for coronary heart disease in England: national cross-sectional study. J Gen Intern Med. 2008;23(2):135–141.
- 132. Edwards S, Mafi J, Landon B. Trends and quality of care in outpatient visits to generalist and specialist physicians delivering primary care in the United States, 1997-2010. J Gen Intern Med. 2014;29(6):947–955.
- 133. Coleman T. Do financial incentives for delivering health promotion counselling work? Analysis of smoking cessation activities stimulated by the quality and outcomes framework. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:167.
- 134. Greene J. An examination of Pay-for-Performance in general practice in Australia. Health Serv Res. 2013;48(4):1415–1432.
- Tara K, Wilton AS, Moineddin R, Paszat L, Glazier RH. Effect of payment incentives on cancer screening in Ontario primary care. Ann Fam Med. 2014; 12(4): 317–323.
- 136. Chien AT, Li Z, Rosenthal MB. Improving timely childhood immunizations through pay for performance in Medicaid-managed care. Health Serv Res. 2010; 45(6 Pt 2):1934–1947.
- 137. Sahota N, Hood A, Shankar A, Watt B, Ramaiah S. Developing performance indicators for primary care: Walsall's experience. Br J Gen Pract. 2008;58(557): 856–861.
- 138. Kontopantelis E, Doran T, Gravelle H, Goudie R, Siciliani L, Sutton M. Family doctor responses to changes in incentives for Influenza immunization under the U.K. Quality and Outcomes Framework Pay-for-Performance Scheme. Health Serv Res. 2012;47(3 Pt 1):1117–1136.
- 139. Kontopantelis E, Springate D, Reeves D, Ashcroft DM, Valderas JM, Doran T. Withdrawing performance indicators: retrospective analysis of general practice performance under UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. BMJ. 2014;348:g330.
- 140. Pape UJ, Huckvale K, Car J, Majeed A, Millett C. Impact of 'stretch' targets for cardiovascular disease management within a local Pay-for-Performance programme. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(3):1–12.
- 141. Kirschner K, Braspenning J, Akkermans RP, Jacobs JEA, Grol R. Assessment of a pay-for-performance program in primary care designed by target users. Family Practice. 2013;30(2):161–171.
- 142. Karunaratne K, Stevens P, Irving J, Hobbs H, Kilbride H, Kingston R, et al. The impact of pay for performance on the control of blood pressure in people with chronic kidney disease stage 3-5. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(8):2107–2116.

- 143. Hjerpe P, Boström KB, Lindblad U, Merlo J. Increased registration of hypertension and cancer diagnoses after the introduction of a new reimbursement system. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2012;30(4):222–228.
- 144. Chen J, Tian H, Juarez D, Yermilov I, Braithwaite R, Chung R, et al. Does Pay for Performance improve cardiovascular care in a "Real-World" setting? Am J Med Qual. 2011;26(5):340.
- 145. Lee J, Netuveli G, Majeed A, Millett C. The effects of Pay for Performance on disparities in Stroke, Hypertension, and Coronary Heart Disease management: interrupted time series study. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(12):e27236.
- 146. Glasgow N, Zwar N, Harris M, Hasan I, Jowsey T. Australia. In Nolte E, Knai C, McKee M, editors. Managing Chronic Conditions: Experience in Eight Countries. Copenhagen: European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2008.
- 147. Elovainio R. Performance Incentives for Health in High- Income Countries: Key Issues and Lessons Learned. World Health Report, Background Paper 32. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010. http://www.who.int/healthsystems/ topics/financing/healthreport/32PBF.pdf.
- 148. Jaume B, Concha J, Joan C, Ethel S, Gimferrer N, Vilaseca J. Using pay-forperformance to introduce changes in primary healthcare centres in Spain: first year results. Qual Prim Care. 2009;17(2):123–131.
- 149. Campbell SM, McDonald R, Lester H. The Experience of Pay for Performance in English Family Practice: A Qualitative Study. Ann Fam Med. 2008;6(3):228–234.
- 150. Hillman AL, Pauly MV, Kerman K, Martinek CR. HMO managers' views on financial incentives and quality. Health Affairs (Project Hope). 1991;10(4):207–219.
- 151. Meiesaar K, Lember M. Efficiency and sustainability of using resources in Estonian primary health care. Croat Med J. 2004;45(5):573–577.
- 152. Põlluste K, Kasiulevičius V, Veide S, Kringos DS, Boerma W, Lember M. Primary care in Baltic countries: a comparison of progress and present systems. Health Policy. 2013;109(2):122–130.
- 153. Põlluste K, Habicht J, Kalda R, Lember M. Quality improvement in the Estonian health system--assessment of progress using an international tool. Int J Qual Health Care. 2006;18(6):403–413.
- 154. Kalda R, Lember M. Setting national standards for practice equipment. Presence of equipment in Estonian practices before and after introduction of guidelines with feedback. Int J Qual Health Care. 2000;12(1):59–63.
- 155. Håkansson A, Ovhed I, Jurgutis A, Kalda R, Ticmane G. Family medicine in the Baltic countries. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2008;26(2):67–69.
- 156. Västra K. Assessing the impact of implementing primary care quality bonus system on follow up of patients with hypertension and type 2 diabetes based on Estonian Health Insurance Fund claims registry data in 2005-2008. 2010. http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/1965/1/V%c3%a4stra2010.pdf.
- 157. Fiorentini G, Iezzi E, Lippi Bruni M, Ugolini C. Incentives in primary care and their impact on potentially avoidable hospital admissions. Eur J Health Econ. 2011;12(4):297–309.
- Falzon P, Nascimento A, Gaudart C, Piney C, Dujarier M, Germe J. Performancebased management and quality of work: an empirical assessment. Work (Reading, Mass). 2012;41 Suppl:13855–13860.
- 159. WHO [internet]. National programmes and systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. http://www.who.int/immunization/programmes_systems/en/.

- 160. Vaccines.gov [internet]. Five Important Reasons to Vaccinate Your Child. Washington: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. http://www.vaccines.gov/more_info/features/five-important-reasons-to-vaccinateyour-child.html.
- 161. Kelley E, Hurst J. Health Care Quality Indicators Project: Conceptual Framework Paper. OECD Health Working Papers, No. 23. OECD Publishing: Paris; 2006
- 162. GAVI Alliance [internet]. Health systems goal indicators. Geneva: GAVI Alliance; 2014. http://www.gavialliance.org/results/goal-level-indicators/health-systems-goal-indicators/.
- 163. Brenzel L. Can investments in health systems strategies lead to changes in immunization coverage? Expert Rev Vaccines. 2014;13(4):561–572.
- 164. WHO: Global Health Observatory (GHO) [internet]. Diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (DTP3) immunization coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. http://www.healthinternetwork.com/gho/urban_health/services/dpt3_vaccination_t ext/en/.
- 165. World Health Organization. Third dose of diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid and pertussis vaccine. http://apps.who.int/immunization_monitoring/globalsummary/ timeseries/tscoveragedtp3.html.
- 166. Dietz V, Venczel L, Izurieta H, Stroh G, Zell ER, Monterroso E, et al. Assessing and monitoring vaccination coverage levels: lessons from the. Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública. 2004(6):432.
- 167. Merilind E, Västra K, Salupere R, Kolde A, Kalda R. The impact of pay-forperformance on the workload of family practices in Estonia. Qual Prim Care. 2014;22(2):109–114.
- 168. Caminal J, Starfield B, Sanchez E, Casanova C, Morales M. The role of primary care in preventing ambulatory care sensitive conditions. Eur J Public Health 2004;14(3):246–251.
- 169. National Health Priority Action Council (NHPAC). National Chronic Disease Strategy. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health an Ageing; 2006. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/66EC52273873D3 75CA257BF0001F3FED/\$File/stratal3.pdf.
- 170. Fleetcroft R, Steel, Cookson R, et al. Incentive payments are not related to expected health gain in the pay for performance scheme for UK primary care: cross-sectional analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12(1):94–102.
- 171. Kelly E, Stoye G. Does GP practice size matter? GP practice size and the quality of primary care (No. R101). IFS Reports, Institute for Fiscal Studies; 2014.
- 172. Anwar MS, Baker R, Walker N, Mainous AG, 3rd, Bankart MJ. Chronic disease detection and access: does access improve detection, or does detection make access more difficult? Br J Gen Pract. 2012;62(598):e337–e343.
- 173. van den Hombergh P, Campbell S. Is 'practice size' the key to quality of care?, Br J Gen Pract. 2013;63(614):459–460.
- 174. Devlin R, Hogg W, Zhong J, Shortt M, Dahrouge S, Russell G. Practice size, financial sharing and quality of care, BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:446.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Eero Merilind
Date of birth:	April 20, 1971
Citizenship:	Estonian
Address:	Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health,
	University of Tartu, Ravila 19, 50411, Tartu, Estonia
Phone:	(+372) 737 4190
Mobile phone:	(+372) 51 12 901
E-mail:	Eero.Merilind@arst.ee

Education:

1978–1989	Tallinn 42 Secondary School. Silver medal
1989–1995	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine. MD
1995–1997	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine. Internship. General practitioner
1998–2000	University of Tartu, vocational training in Family Medicine. Family doctor
2008-	University of Tartu, Family Medicine Clinic, PhD student

Professional Employment:

1997–2000	General practitioner in Rae district (Vaida and Lagedi), Harju
	County
2000–2005	Nõmme Family Doctors Center, OÜ Meditiim – Family doctor
2005–2006	Swale PCT, Kent county, United Kingdom, General practitioner
2006–	Nõmme Family Doctors Centre, OÜ Meditiim – Family doctor
2008–	University of Tartu, Family Medicine Clinic, PhD student

Membership in scientific organisations:

Estonian Doctors Association, Doctors Association in Tallinn, Estonian Society of Family Doctors, Society of Family Doctors in Tallinn.

Publications:

- 1. Merilind E, Västra K, Salupere R, Kolde A, Kalda R. The impact of P4P on the workload of family practices in Estonia. Qual Prim Care. 2014; 22(2):109–114.
- Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. The influence of performancebased payment on childhood immunization coverage. Health Policy. 2015;119(6):770–777.
- 3. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Põldsam R, Kalda R. The impact of payment for performance on number of family doctors visits, specialist consultations and hospital bed occupancy. A longitudinal study. Qual Prim Care. 2016;24(1):23–28.

4. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. Payment for performance of Estonian family doctors and impact of different practice and patient-related characteristics on a good outcome: a quantitative assessment. Medicina. 2016;52:192–198.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Eero Merilind
Sünniaeg:	20. aprill, 1971
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Aadress:	Tartu Ülikooli peremeditsiini ja rahvatervishoiu instituut
	Ravila 19, 50411, Tartu, Eesti Vabariik
Telefon:	(+372) 737 4190
Mobiiltelefon:	(+372) 51 12 901
E-post:	Eero.Merilind@arst.ee

Hariduskäik:

1978–1989	Tallinna 42 Keskkool. Hõbemedal
1989–1995	Tartu Ülikool arstiteaduskond, ravi eriala. MD
1995–1997	Tartu Ülikool arstiteaduskond üldinternatuur. Üldarst
1998–2000	Tartu Ülikool perearstiks spetsialiseerumise kursused. Perearst
2008–	Tartu Ülikool Peremeditsiinikliinik, doktorantuur

Erialane teenistuskäik:

1997–2000	Vaida ja Lagedi piirkonna üldarst Rae vallas Harju maakonnas
2000–2005	Nõmme Perearstikeskus OÜ Meditiim – perearst
2005–2006	Swale PCT perearst, Kenti maakond, Suurbritannia
2006–	Nõmme Perearstikeskus OÜ Meditiim – perearst
2008-	Tartu Ülikool Peremeditsiinikliinik doktorant

Osalemine erialaseltsides:

Eesti Arstide Liit, Tallinna Arstide Liit, Eesti Perearstide Selts, Tallinna Perearstide Selts.

Publikatsioonid:

- 1. Merilind E, Västra K, Salupere R, Kolde A, Kalda R. The impact of P4P on the workload of family practices in Estonia. Qual Prim Care. 2014; 22(2): 109–114.
- Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. The influence of performancebased payment on childhood immunization coverage. Health Policy. 2015;119(6):770–777.
- 3. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Põldsam R, Kalda R. The impact of payment for performance on number of family doctors visits, specialist consultations and hospital bed occupancy. A longitudinal study. Qual Prim Care. 2016;24(1):23–28.
- 4. Merilind E, Salupere R, Västra K, Kalda R. Payment for performance of Estonian family doctors and impact of different practice and patient-related characteristics on a good outcome: a quantitative assessment. Medicina. 2016;52:192–198.

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos. The natural course of gastric ulcer in connection with chronic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1991.
- 2. **Mihkel Zilmer**. Na-pump in normal and tumorous brain tissues: Structural, functional and tumorigenesis aspects. Tartu, 1991.
- 3. **Eero Vasar**. Role of cholecystokinin receptors in the regulation of behaviour and in the action of haloperidol and diazepam. Tartu, 1992.
- 4. **Tiina Talvik**. Hypoxic-ischaemic brain damage in neonates (clinical, biochemical and brain computed tomographical investigation). Tartu, 1992.
- 5. Ants Peetsalu. Vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: A study of gastric acidity, serum pepsinogen I, gastric mucosal histology and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1992.
- 6. **Marika Mikelsaar**. Evaluation of the gastrointestinal microbial ecosystem in health and disease. Tartu, 1992.
- 7. Hele Everaus. Immuno-hormonal interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and multiple myeloma. Tartu, 1993.
- 8. **Ruth Mikelsaar**. Etiological factors of diseases in genetically consulted children and newborn screening: dissertation for the commencement of the degree of doctor of medical sciences. Tartu, 1993.
- 9. Agu Tamm. On metabolic action of intestinal microflora: clinical aspects. Tartu, 1993.
- 10. Katrin Gross. Multiple sclerosis in South-Estonia (epidemiological and computed tomographical investigations). Tartu, 1993.
- 11. **Oivi Uibo**. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia: occurrence, screening, diagnosis and clinical characterization. Tartu, 1994.
- 12. Viiu Tuulik. The functional disorders of central nervous system of chemistry workers. Tartu, 1994.
- 13. Margus Viigimaa. Primary haemostasis, antiaggregative and anticoagulant treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Tartu, 1994.
- 14. **Rein Kolk**. Atrial versus ventricular pacing in patients with sick sinus syndrome. Tartu, 1994.
- 15. **Toomas Podar**. Incidence of childhood onset type 1 diabetes mellitus in Estonia. Tartu, 1994.
- 16. **Kiira Subi**. The laboratory surveillance of the acute respiratory viral infections in Estonia. Tartu, 1995.
- 17. **Irja Lutsar**. Infections of the central nervous system in children (epidemiologic, diagnostic and therapeutic aspects, long term outcome). Tartu, 1995.
- 18. **Aavo Lang**. The role of dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, sigma and NMDA receptors in the action of antipsychotic drugs. Tartu, 1995.
- 19. Andrus Arak. Factors influencing the survival of patients after radical surgery for gastric cancer. Tartu, 1996.

- 20. **Tõnis Karki**. Quantitative composition of the human lactoflora and method for its examination. Tartu, 1996.
- 21. **Reet Mändar**. Vaginal microflora during pregnancy and its transmission to newborn. Tartu, 1996.
- 22. **Triin Remmel**. Primary biliary cirrhosis in Estonia: epidemiology, clinical characterization and prognostication of the course of the disease. Tartu, 1996.
- 23. **Toomas Kivastik**. Mechanisms of drug addiction: focus on positive reinforcing properties of morphine. Tartu, 1996.
- 24. **Paavo Pokk**. Stress due to sleep deprivation: focus on GABA_A receptorchloride ionophore complex. Tartu, 1996.
- 25. **Kristina Allikmets**. Renin system activity in essential hypertension. Associations with atherothrombogenic cardiovascular risk factors and with the efficacy of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 26. **Triin Parik**. Oxidative stress in essential hypertension: Associations with metabolic disturbances and the effects of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 27. Svetlana Päi. Factors promoting heterogeneity of the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 1997.
- 28. **Maarike Sallo**. Studies on habitual physical activity and aerobic fitness in 4 to 10 years old children. Tartu, 1997.
- 29. Paul Naaber. *Clostridium difficile* infection and intestinal microbial ecology. Tartu, 1997.
- 30. Rein Pähkla. Studies in pinoline pharmacology. Tartu, 1997.
- 31. Andrus Juhan Voitk. Outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Tartu, 1997.
- 32. Joel Starkopf. Oxidative stress and ischaemia-reperfusion of the heart. Tartu, 1997.
- 33. Janika Kõrv. Incidence, case-fatality and outcome of stroke. Tartu, 1998.
- 34. Ülla Linnamägi. Changes in local cerebral blood flow and lipid peroxidation following lead exposure in experiment. Tartu, 1998.
- 35. Ave Minajeva. Sarcoplasmic reticulum function: comparison of atrial and ventricular myocardium. Tartu, 1998.
- 36. **Oleg Milenin**. Reconstruction of cervical part of esophagus by revascularised ileal autografts in dogs. A new complex multistage method. Tartu, 1998.
- 37. **Sergei Pakriev**. Prevalence of depression, harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence among rural population in Udmurtia. Tartu, 1998.
- 38. Allen Kaasik. Thyroid hormone control over β -adrenergic signalling system in rat atria. Tartu, 1998.
- 39. Vallo Matto. Pharmacological studies on anxiogenic and antiaggressive properties of antidepressants. Tartu, 1998.
- 40. **Maire Vasar**. Allergic diseases and bronchial hyperreactivity in Estonian children in relation to environmental influences. Tartu, 1998.
- 41. **Kaja Julge**. Humoral immune responses to allergens in early childhood. Tartu, 1998.
- 42. **Heli Grünberg**. The cardiovascular risk of Estonian schoolchildren. A cross-sectional study of 9-, 12- and 15-year-old children. Tartu, 1998.
- 43. **Epp Sepp**. Formation of intestinal microbial ecosystem in children. Tartu, 1998.
- 44. Mai Ots. Characteristics of the progression of human and experimental glomerulopathies. Tartu, 1998.
- 45. Tiina Ristimäe. Heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. Tartu, 1998.
- 46. Leho Kõiv. Reaction of the sympatho-adrenal and hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical system in the acute stage of head injury. Tartu, 1998.
- 47. Bela Adojaan. Immune and genetic factors of childhood onset IDDM in Estonia. An epidemiological study. Tartu, 1999.
- 48. Jakov Shlik. Psychophysiological effects of cholecystokinin in humans. Tartu, 1999.
- 49. Kai Kisand. Autoantibodies against dehydrogenases of α -ketoacids. Tartu, 1999.
- 50. Toomas Marandi. Drug treatment of depression in Estonia. Tartu, 1999.
- 51. Ants Kask. Behavioural studies on neuropeptide Y. Tartu, 1999.
- 52. Ello-Rahel Karelson. Modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in the rat hippocampus by neuropeptide galanin and its chimeric analogs. Tartu, 1999.
- 53. **Tanel Laisaar**. Treatment of pleural empyema special reference to intrapleural therapy with streptokinase and surgical treatment modalities. Tartu, 1999.
- 54. Eve Pihl. Cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged former athletes. Tartu, 1999.
- 55. **Katrin Õunap**. Phenylketonuria in Estonia: incidence, newborn screening, diagnosis, clinical characterization and genotype/phenotype correlation. Tartu, 1999.
- 56. Siiri Kõljalg. Acinetobacter an important nosocomial pathogen. Tartu, 1999.
- 57. Helle Karro. Reproductive health and pregnancy outcome in Estonia: association with different factors. Tartu, 1999.
- 58. Heili Varendi. Behavioral effects observed in human newborns during exposure to naturally occurring odors. Tartu, 1999.
- 59. Anneli Beilmann. Epidemiology of epilepsy in children and adolescents in Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical characteristics. Tartu, 1999.
- 60. Vallo Volke. Pharmacological and biochemical studies on nitric oxide in the regulation of behaviour. Tartu, 1999.
- 61. **Pilvi Ilves**. Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy in asphyxiated term infants. A prospective clinical, biochemical, ultrasonographical study. Tartu, 1999.
- 62. Anti Kalda. Oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced neuronal death and its pharmacological prevention in cerebellar granule cells. Tartu, 1999.
- 63. Eve-Irene Lepist. Oral peptide prodrugs studies on stability and absorption. Tartu, 2000.

- 64. Jana Kivastik. Lung function in Estonian schoolchildren: relationship with anthropometric indices and respiratory symptomas, reference values for dynamic spirometry. Tartu, 2000.
- 65. **Karin Kull**. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunogenetic study. Tartu, 2000.
- 66. Kaire Innos. Epidemiological resources in Estonia: data sources, their quality and feasibility of cohort studies. Tartu, 2000.
- 67. **Tamara Vorobjova**. Immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* and its association with dynamics of chronic gastritis and epithelial cell turnover in antrum and corpus. Tartu, 2001.
- 68. **Ruth Kalda**. Structure and outcome of family practice quality in the changing health care system of Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 69. Annika Krüüner. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* spread and drug resistance in Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 70. **Marlit Veldi**. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Computerized Endopharyngeal Myotonometry of the Soft Palate and Lingual Musculature. Tartu, 2001.
- 71. Anneli Uusküla. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in Estonia in 1990–2000. Tartu, 2001.
- 72. Ade Kallas. Characterization of antibodies to coagulation factor VIII. Tartu, 2002.
- 73. **Heidi Annuk**. Selection of medicinal plants and intestinal lactobacilli as antimicrobil components for functional foods. Tartu, 2002.
- 74. Aet Lukmann. Early rehabilitation of patients with ischaemic heart disease after surgical revascularization of the myocardium: assessment of health-related quality of life, cardiopulmonary reserve and oxidative stress. A clinical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 75. **Maigi Eisen**. Pathogenesis of Contact Dermatitis: participation of Oxidative Stress. A clinical – biochemical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 76. **Piret Hussar**. Histology of the post-traumatic bone repair in rats. Elaboration and use of a new standardized experimental model bicortical perforation of tibia compared to internal fracture and resection osteotomy. Tartu, 2002.
- 77. **Tõnu Rätsep**. Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral haemodynamics. Tartu, 2002.
- 78. **Marju Herodes**. Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 79. **Katre Maasalu**. Changes in bone quality due to age and genetic disorders and their clinical expressions in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 80. Toomas Sillakivi. Perforated peptic ulcer in Estonia: epidemiology, risk factors and relations with *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 2003.
- 81. Leena Puksa. Late responses in motor nerve conduction studies. F and A waves in normal subjects and patients with neuropathies. Tartu, 2003.
- 82. Krista Lõivukene. *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric microbial ecology and its antimicrobial susceptibility pattern. Tartu, 2003.

- 83. **Helgi Kolk**. Dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the diagnostic value of symptoms, treatment and follow-up of patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy by family physicians. Tartu, 2003.
- 84. **Helena Soomer**. Validation of identification and age estimation methods in forensic odontology. Tartu, 2003.
- 85. **Kersti Oselin**. Studies on the human MDR1, MRP1, and MRP2 ABC transporters: functional relevance of the genetic polymorphisms in the *MDR1* and *MRP1* gene. Tartu, 2003.
- 86. Jaan Soplepmann. Peptic ulcer haemorrhage in Estonia: epidemiology, prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Tartu, 2003.
- 87. **Margot Peetsalu**. Long-term follow-up after vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: recurrent ulcer, changes in the function, morphology and *Helicobacter pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2003.
- 88. Kersti Klaamas. Humoral immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* a study of host-dependent and microbial factors. Tartu, 2003.
- 89. **Pille Taba**. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Tartu, Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, clinical characteristics, and pharmacoepidemiology. Tartu, 2003.
- 90. Alar Veraksitš. Characterization of behavioural and biochemical phenotype of cholecystokinin-2 receptor deficient mice: changes in the function of the dopamine and endopioidergic system. Tartu, 2003.
- 91. **Ingrid Kalev**. CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene polymorphism in Estonians and in patients with Type I and Type II diabetes mellitus. Tartu, 2003.
- 92. Lumme Kadaja. Molecular approach to the regulation of mitochondrial function in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2003.
- 93. Aive Liigant. Epidemiology of primary central nervous system tumours in Estonia from 1986 to 1996. Clinical characteristics, incidence, survival and prognostic factors. Tartu, 2004.
- 94. Andres, Kulla. Molecular characteristics of mesenchymal stroma in human astrocytic gliomas. Tartu, 2004.
- 95. Mari Järvelaid. Health damaging risk behaviours in adolescence. Tartu, 2004.
- 96. Ülle Pechter. Progression prevention strategies in chronic renal failure and hypertension. An experimental and clinical study. Tartu, 2004.
- 97. **Gunnar Tasa**. Polymorphic glutathione S-transferases biology and role in modifying genetic susceptibility to senile cataract and primary open angle glaucoma. Tartu, 2004.
- 98. **Tuuli Käämbre**. Intracellular energetic unit: structural and functional aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 99. Vitali Vassiljev. Influence of nitric oxide syntase inhibitors on the effects of ethanol after acute and chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal. Tartu, 2004.

- 100. Aune Rehema. Assessment of nonhaem ferrous iron and glutathione redox ratio as markers of pathogeneticity of oxidative stress in different clinical groups. Tartu, 2004.
- 101. Evelin Seppet. Interaction of mitochondria and ATPases in oxidative muscle cells in normal and pathological conditions. Tartu, 2004.
- 102. Eduard Maron. Serotonin function in panic disorder: from clinical experiments to brain imaging and genetics. Tartu, 2004.
- 103. Marje Oona. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: epidemiological and therapeutic aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 104. Kersti Kokk. Regulation of active and passive molecular transport in the testis. Tartu, 2005.
- 105. Vladimir Järv. Cross-sectional imaging for pretreatment evaluation and follow-up of pelvic malignant tumours. Tartu, 2005.
- 106. Andre Õun. Epidemiology of adult epilepsy in Tartu, Estonia. Incidence, prevalence and medical treatment. Tartu, 2005.
- 107. **Piibe Muda**. Homocysteine and hypertension: associations between homocysteine and essential hypertension in treated and untreated hypertensive patients with and without coronary artery disease. Tartu, 2005.
- 108. **Külli Kingo**. The interleukin-10 family cytokines gene polymorphisms in plaque psoriasis. Tartu, 2005.
- 109. **Mati Merila**. Anatomy and clinical relevance of the glenohumeral joint capsule and ligaments. Tartu, 2005.
- 110. **Epp Songisepp**. Evaluation of technological and functional properties of the new probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* ME-3. Tartu, 2005.
- 111. Tiia Ainla. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia: clinical characteristics, management and outcome. Tartu, 2005.
- 112. Andres Sell. Determining the minimum local anaesthetic requirements for hip replacement surgery under spinal anaesthesia a study employing a spinal catheter. Tartu, 2005.
- 113. **Tiia Tamme**. Epidemiology of odontogenic tumours in Estonia. Pathogenesis and clinical behaviour of ameloblastoma. Tartu, 2005.
- 114. **Triine Annus**. Allergy in Estonian schoolchildren: time trends and characteristics. Tartu, 2005.
- 115. **Tiia Voor**. Microorganisms in infancy and development of allergy: comparison of Estonian and Swedish children. Tartu, 2005.
- 116. **Priit Kasenõmm**. Indicators for tonsillectomy in adults with recurrent tonsillitis clinical, microbiological and pathomorphological investigations. Tartu, 2005.
- 117. **Eva Zusinaite**. Hepatitis C virus: genotype identification and interactions between viral proteases. Tartu, 2005.
- 118. **Piret Kõll**. Oral lactoflora in chronic periodontitis and periodontal health. Tartu, 2006.
- 119. **Tiina Stelmach**. Epidemiology of cerebral palsy and unfavourable neurodevelopmental outcome in child population of Tartu city and county, Estonia Prevalence, clinical features and risk factors. Tartu, 2006.

- 120. **Katrin Pudersell**. Tropane alkaloid production and riboflavine excretion in the field and tissue cultures of henbane (*Hyoscyamus niger* L.). Tartu, 2006.
- 121. **Külli Jaako**. Studies on the role of neurogenesis in brain plasticity. Tartu, 2006.
- 122. Aare Märtson. Lower limb lengthening: experimental studies of bone regeneration and long-term clinical results. Tartu, 2006.
- 123. Heli Tähepõld. Patient consultation in family medicine. Tartu, 2006.
- 124. **Stanislav Liskmann**. Peri-implant disease: pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment in view of both inflammation and oxidative stress profiling. Tartu, 2006.
- 125. **Ruth Rudissaar**. Neuropharmacology of atypical antipsychotics and an animal model of psychosis. Tartu, 2006.
- 126. **Helena Andreson**. Diversity of *Helicobacter pylori* genotypes in Estonian patients with chronic inflammatory gastric diseases. Tartu, 2006.
- 127. **Katrin Pruus**. Mechanism of action of antidepressants: aspects of serotoninergic system and its interaction with glutamate. Tartu, 2006.
- 128. **Priit Põder**. Clinical and experimental investigation: relationship of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with oxidative stress in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair and in extracranial brain artery endarterectomy and possibilities of protection against ischaemia using a glutathione analogue in a rat model of global brain ischaemia. Tartu, 2006.
- 129. Marika Tammaru. Patient-reported outcome measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2006.
- 130. Tiia Reimand. Down syndrome in Estonia. Tartu, 2006.
- 131. **Diva Eensoo**. Risk-taking in traffic and Markers of Risk-Taking Behaviour in Schoolchildren and Car Drivers. Tartu, 2007.
- 132. **Riina Vibo**. The third stroke registry in Tartu, Estonia from 2001 to 2003: incidence, case-fatality, risk factors and long-term outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 133. Chris Pruunsild. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 134. Eve Õiglane-Šlik. Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 135. Kadri Haller. Antibodies to follicle stimulating hormone. Significance in female infertility. Tartu, 2007.
- 136. Pille Ööpik. Management of depression in family medicine. Tartu, 2007.
- 137. Jaak Kals. Endothelial function and arterial stiffness in patients with atherosclerosis and in healthy subjects. Tartu, 2007.
- 138. **Priit Kampus**. Impact of inflammation, oxidative stress and age on arterial stiffness and carotid artery intima-media thickness. Tartu, 2007.
- 139. Margus Punab. Male fertility and its risk factors in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 140. Alar Toom. Heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: clinical and pathogenetic investigation. Tartu, 2007.

- 141. Lea Pehme. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in Estonia 1991–2003 with special regard to extrapulmonary tuberculosis and delay in diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tartu, 2007.
- 142. Juri Karjagin. The pharmacokinetics of metronidazole and meropenem in septic shock. Tartu, 2007.
- 143. **Inga Talvik**. Inflicted traumatic brain injury shaken baby syndrome in Estonia epidemiology and outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 144. **Tarvo Rajasalu**. Autoimmune diabetes: an immunological study of type 1 diabetes in humans and in a model of experimental diabetes (in RIP-B7.1 mice). Tartu, 2007.
- 145. **Inga Karu**. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury of the heart during coronary surgery: a clinical study investigating the effect of hyperoxia. Tartu, 2007.
- 146. **Peeter Padrik**. Renal cell carcinoma: Changes in natural history and treatment of metastatic disease. Tartu, 2007.
- 147. Neve Vendt. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Tartu, 2008.
- 148. Lenne-Triin Heidmets. The effects of neurotoxins on brain plasticity: focus on neural Cell Adhesion Molecule. Tartu, 2008.
- 149. **Paul Korrovits**. Asymptomatic inflammatory prostatitis: prevalence, etiological factors, diagnostic tools. Tartu, 2008.
- 150. Annika Reintam. Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care patients. Tartu, 2008.
- 151. **Kristiina Roots**. Cationic regulation of Na-pump in the normal, Alzheimer's and CCK₂ receptor-deficient brain. Tartu, 2008.
- 152. **Helen Puusepp**. The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Tartu, 2009.
- 153. **Kristiina Rull**. Human chorionic gonadotropin beta genes and recurrent miscarriage: expression and variation study. Tartu, 2009.
- 154. **Margus Eimre**. Organization of energy transfer and feedback regulation in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2009.
- 155. **Maire Link**. Transcription factors FoxP3 and AIRE: autoantibody associations. Tartu, 2009.
- 156. Kai Haldre. Sexual health and behaviour of young women in Estonia. Tartu, 2009.
- 157. **Kaur Liivak**. Classical form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency in Estonia: incidence, genotype and phenotype with special attention to short-term growth and 24-hour blood pressure. Tartu, 2009.
- 158. Kersti Ehrlich. Antioxidative glutathione analogues (UPF peptides) molecular design, structure-activity relationships and testing the protective properties. Tartu, 2009.
- 159. Anneli Rätsep. Type 2 diabetes care in family medicine. Tartu, 2009.
- 160. **Silver Türk**. Etiopathogenetic aspects of chronic prostatitis: role of mycoplasmas, coryneform bacteria and oxidative stress. Tartu, 2009.

- 161. Kaire Heilman. Risk markers for cardiovascular disease and low bone mineral density in children with type 1 diabetes. Tartu, 2009.
- 162. **Kristi Rüütel**. HIV-epidemic in Estonia: injecting drug use and quality of life of people living with HIV. Tartu, 2009.
- 163. **Triin Eller**. Immune markers in major depression and in antidepressive treatment. Tartu, 2009.
- 164. Siim Suutre. The role of TGF- β isoforms and osteoprogenitor cells in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. An experimental and clinical study of hip arthroplasty. Tartu, 2010.
- 165. Kai Kliiman. Highly drug-resistant tuberculosis in Estonia: Risk factors and predictors of poor treatment outcome. Tartu, 2010.
- 166. **Inga Villa**. Cardiovascular health-related nutrition, physical activity and fitness in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 167. **Tõnis Org**. Molecular function of the first PHD finger domain of Autoimmune Regulator protein. Tartu, 2010.
- 168. **Tuuli Metsvaht**. Optimal antibacterial therapy of neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2010.
- 169. Jaanus Kahu. Kidney transplantation: Studies on donor risk factors and mycophenolate mofetil. Tartu, 2010.
- 170. Koit Reimand. Autoimmunity in reproductive failure: A study on associated autoantibodies and autoantigens. Tartu, 2010.
- 171. **Mart Kull**. Impact of vitamin D and hypolactasia on bone mineral density: a population based study in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 172. **Rael Laugesaar**. Stroke in children epidemiology and risk factors. Tartu, 2010.
- 173. **Mark Braschinsky**. Epidemiology and quality of life issues of hereditary spastic paraplegia in Estonia and implemention of genetic analysis in everyday neurologic practice. Tartu, 2010.
- 174. **Kadri Suija**. Major depression in family medicine: associated factors, recurrence and possible intervention. Tartu, 2010.
- 175. **Jarno Habicht**. Health care utilisation in Estonia: socioeconomic determinants and financial burden of out-of-pocket payments. Tartu, 2010.
- 176. Kristi Abram. The prevalence and risk factors of rosacea. Subjective disease perception of rosacea patients. Tartu, 2010.
- 177. **Malle Kuum**. Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum cation fluxes: Novel roles in cellular physiology. Tartu, 2010.
- 178. Rita Teek. The genetic causes of early onset hearing loss in Estonian children. Tartu, 2010.
- 179. **Daisy Volmer**. The development of community pharmacy services in Estonia public and professional perceptions 1993–2006. Tartu, 2010.
- 180. Jelena Lissitsina. Cytogenetic causes in male infertility. Tartu, 2011.
- 181. **Delia Lepik**. Comparison of gunshot injuries caused from Tokarev, Makarov and Glock 19 pistols at different firing distances. Tartu, 2011.
- 182. Ene-Renate Pähkla. Factors related to the efficiency of treatment of advanced periodontitis. Tartu, 2011.

- 183. Maarja Krass. L-Arginine pathways and antidepressant action. Tartu, 2011.
- 184. **Taavi Lai**. Population health measures to support evidence-based health policy in Estonia. Tartu, 2011.
- 185. **Tiit Salum**. Similarity and difference of temperature-dependence of the brain sodium pump in normal, different neuropathological, and aberrant conditions and its possible reasons. Tartu, 2011.
- 186. **Tõnu Vooder**. Molecular differences and similarities between histological subtypes of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011.
- 187. Jelena Štšepetova. The characterisation of intestinal lactic acid bacteria using bacteriological, biochemical and molecular approaches. Tartu, 2011.
- 188. **Radko Avi**. Natural polymorphisms and transmitted drug resistance in Estonian HIV-1 CRF06 cpx and its recombinant viruses. Tartu, 2011, 116 p.
- 189. Edward Laane. Multiparameter flow cytometry in haematological malignancies. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 190. **Triin Jagomägi**. A study of the genetic etiology of nonsyndromic cleft lip and palate. Tartu, 2011, 158 p.
- 191. **Ivo Laidmäe**. Fibrin glue of fish (*Salmo salar*) origin: immunological study and development of new pharmaceutical preparation. Tartu, 2012, 150 p.
- 192. Ülle Parm. Early mucosal colonisation and its role in prediction of invasive infection in neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2012, 168 p.
- 193. **Kaupo Teesalu**. Autoantibodies against desmin and transglutaminase 2 in celiac disease: diagnostic and functional significance. Tartu, 2012, 142 p.
- 194. Maksim Zagura. Biochemical, functional and structural profiling of arterial damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2012, 162 p.
- 195. Vivian Kont. Autoimmune regulator: characterization of thymic gene regulation and promoter methylation. Tartu, 2012, 134 p.
- 196. **Pirje Hütt**. Functional properties, persistence, safety and efficacy of potential probiotic lactobacilli. Tartu, 2012, 246 p.
- 197. Innar Tõru. Serotonergic modulation of CCK-4- induced panic. Tartu, 2012, 132 p.
- 198. **Sigrid Vorobjov**. Drug use, related risk behaviour and harm reduction interventions utilization among injecting drug users in Estonia: implications for drug policy. Tartu, 2012, 120 p.
- 199. Martin Serg. Therapeutic aspects of central haemodynamics, arterial stiffness and oxidative stress in hypertension. Tartu, 2012, 156 p.
- 200. **Jaanika Kumm**. Molecular markers of articular tissues in early knee osteoarthritis: a population-based longitudinal study in middle-aged subjects. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.
- 201. Kertu Rünkorg. Functional changes of dopamine, endopioid and endocannabinoid systems in CCK2 receptor deficient mice. Tartu, 2012, 125 p.
- 202. **Mai Blöndal**. Changes in the baseline characteristics, management and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 127 p.

- 203. Jana Lass. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of medicines use in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 170 p.
- 204. Kai Truusalu. Probiotic lactobacilli in experimental persistent Salmonella infection. Tartu, 2013, 139 p.
- Oksana Jagur. Temporomandibular joint diagnostic imaging in relation to pain and bone characteristics. Long-term results of arthroscopic treatment. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 206. Katrin Sikk. Manganese-ephedrone intoxication pathogenesis of neurological damage and clinical symptomatology. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 207. **Kai Blöndal**. Tuberculosis in Estonia with special emphasis on drugresistant tuberculosis: Notification rate, disease recurrence and mortality. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 208. **Marju Puurand**. Oxidative phosphorylation in different diseases of gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2013, 123 p.
- 209. Aili Tagoma. Immune activation in female infertility: Significance of autoantibodies and inflammatory mediators. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 210. Liis Sabre. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Estonia. Brain activation in the acute phase of traumatic spinal cord injury. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 211. Merit Lamp. Genetic susceptibility factors in endometriosis. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 212. Erik Salum. Beneficial effects of vitamin D and angiotensin II receptor blocker on arterial damage. Tartu, 2013, 167 p.
- 213. **Maire Karelson**. Vitiligo: clinical aspects, quality of life and the role of melanocortin system in pathogenesis. Tartu, 2013, 153 p.
- 214. **Kuldar Kaljurand**. Prevalence of exfoliation syndrome in Estonia and its clinical significance. Tartu, 2013, 113 p.
- Raido Paasma. Clinical study of methanol poisoning: handling large outbreaks, treatment with antidotes, and long-term outcomes. Tartu, 2013, 96 p.
- 216. Anne Kleinberg. Major depression in Estonia: prevalence, associated factors, and use of health services. Tartu, 2013, 129 p.
- 217. **Triin Eglit**. Obesity, impaired glucose regulation, metabolic syndrome and their associations with high-molecular-weight adiponectin levels. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.
- 218. **Kristo Ausmees**. Reproductive function in middle-aged males: Associations with prostate, lifestyle and couple infertility status. Tartu, 2014, 125 p.
- 219. Kristi Huik. The influence of host genetic factors on the susceptibility to HIV and HCV infections among intravenous drug users. Tartu, 2014, 144 p.
- 220. Liina Tserel. Epigenetic profiles of monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 221. Irina Kerna. The contribution of *ADAM12* and *CILP* genes to the development of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.

- 222. **Ingrit Liiv**. Autoimmune regulator protein interaction with DNA-dependent protein kinase and its role in apoptosis. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 223. Liivi Maddison. Tissue perfusion and metabolism during intra-abdominal hypertension. Tartu, 2014, 103 p.
- 224. Krista Ress. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia, prevalence in atopic dermatitis and immunological characterisation of coexistence. Tartu, 2014, 124 p.
- 225. Kai Muru. Prenatal screening strategies, long-term outcome of children with marked changes in maternal screening tests and the most common syndromic heart anomalies in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 189 p.
- 226. **Kaja Rahu**. Morbidity and mortality among Baltic Chernobyl cleanup workers: a register-based cohort study. Tartu, 2014, 155 p.
- 227. Klari Noormets. The development of diabetes mellitus, fertility and energy metabolism disturbances in a Wfs1-deficient mouse model of Wolfram syndrome. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 228. Liis Toome. Very low gestational age infants in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 183 p.
- 229. Ceith Nikkolo. Impact of different mesh parameters on chronic pain and foreign body feeling after open inguinal hernia repair. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 230. Vadim Brjalin. Chronic hepatitis C: predictors of treatment response in Estonian patients. Tartu, 2014, 122 p.
- 231. Vahur Metsna. Anterior knee pain in patients following total knee arthroplasty: the prevalence, correlation with patellar cartilage impairment and aspects of patellofemoral congruence. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 232. **Marju Kase**. Glioblastoma multiforme: possibilities to improve treatment efficacy. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 233. **Riina Runnel**. Oral health among elementary school children and the effects of polyol candies on the prevention of dental caries. Tartu, 2015, 112 p.
- 234. Made Laanpere. Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 176 p.
- 235. Andres Lust. Water mediated solid state transformations of a polymorphic drug effect on pharmaceutical product performance. Tartu, 2015, 134 p.
- 236. **Anna Klugman**. Functionality related characterization of pretreated wood lignin, cellulose and polyvinylpyrrolidone for pharmaceutical applications. Tartu, 2015, 156 p.
- 237. **Triin Laisk-Podar**. Genetic variation as a modulator of susceptibility to female infertility and a source for potential biomarkers. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 238. **Mailis Tõnisson**. Clinical picture and biochemical changes in blood in children with acute alcohol intoxication. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 239. Kadri Tamme. High volume haemodiafiltration in treatment of severe sepsis impact on pharmacokinetics of antibiotics and inflammatory response. Tartu, 2015, 133 p.

- 240. Kai Part. Sexual health of young people in Estonia in a social context: the role of school-based sexuality education and youth-friendly counseling services. Tartu, 2015, 203 p.
- 241. Urve Paaver. New perspectives for the amorphization and physical stabilization of poorly water-soluble drugs and understanding their dissolution behavior. Tartu, 2015, 139 p.
- 242. Aleksandr Peet. Intrauterine and postnatal growth in children with HLAconferred susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Tartu. 2015, 146 p.
- 243. **Piret Mitt**. Healthcare-associated infections in Estonia epidemiology and surveillance of bloodstream and surgical site infections. Tartu, 2015, 145 p.
- 244. **Merli Saare**. Molecular Profiling of Endometriotic Lesions and Endometria of Endometriosis Patients. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 245. **Kaja-Triin Laisaar**. People living with HIV in Estonia: Engagement in medical care and methods of increasing adherence to antiretroviral therapy and safe sexual behavior. Tartu, 2016, 132 p.